

#### Effective conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes

Sidemo Holm, William

2021

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Sidemo Holm, W. (2021). Effective conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Centre for Environmental and Climate Science (CEC)]. Lund University.

Total number of authors:

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:
Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

• Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



## Effective conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes

- Sidemo-Holm, W., Ekroos, J., Smith, HG. Conceptualizations of land sharing vs. land sparing – a systematic overview. Submitted to Conservation Science and Practice.
- **II.** Sidemo-Holm, W., Seufert, V., Birkhofer, K., Ekroos, J., Tschumi, M., Smith, HG. Organic farming benefits both rare and common species: a global meta-analysis. Manuscript.
- **III.** Sidemo-Holm, W., Carrie, R., Ekroos, J., Lindström, SAM., Smith, HG. Reduced crop density increases floral resources to pollinators without affecting crop yield in organic and conventional fields. Submitted to Journal of Applied Ecology.
- **IV.** Sidemo-Holm, W., Brady, MV., Carrie, R., Ekroos, J., Smith, HG. Cost-effectiveness of organic farming for conserving biodiversity in different landscape contexts. Manuscript.
- V. Sidemo-Holm, W., Smith, HG., Brady, MV., 2018. Improving agricultural pollution abatement through result-based payment schemes. Land Use Policy 77, 209-219.





# Effective conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes

William Sidemo Holm



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Science, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended in the Blue Hall, Ecology building, Sölvegatan 37, Lund, on Friday 26<sup>th</sup> of March 2021 at 13.00, for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Science

Faculty opponent
Professor William Sutherland
University of Cambridge
United Kingdom

Organization	Document name
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
Centre for Environmental and Climate Science	Date of issue
Author: William Sidemo Holm	26th March 2021

Title

Effective conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes

#### Abstract

Agricultural land use is a major driver of biodiversity losses and changes in ecosystem services. Thus, for the sake of both humans and wild organism per se, effective strategies that enable both agricultural production and conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services are urgently needed. Such strategies can be divided into those that reduce the intensity of farming in general (such as organic farming), and those that target specific habitats of key importance for farmland biodiversity (e.g., maintaining semi-natural, grazed grasslands). In this thesis, I used a combination of scientific methods in five different studies to assess and propose such strategies that promote biodiversity and ecosystem services, effectively and cost-effectively, in agricultural landscapes. This included reviewing the literature on land-sharing vs. land-sparing strategies, which explicitly compare the merits of spatially integrating (land sharing) or separating (land sparing) biodiversity conservation and agricultural production, respectively. I found that the literature has focused on a limited number of taxonomic groups, ecosystem services and economic factors (particularly birds, carbon storage and agricultural output), which impedes a more holistic understanding of the strategies' social and ecological consequences. In another study, I evaluated the potential of organic farming to preserve rare species, which includes species of high conservation concern. Using a meta-analysis on a global dataset, I showed that organic compared to conventional farming benefits both rare and common species of arthropods, birds, earthworms and plants. I also carried out an empirical study where I compared abundance and diversity of bumblebees and flowering weeds, as well as crop yields, across 19 organic and conventional farms. The study showed that organic farming benefits bumblebees by harboring more flowering weeds, but only when crop yields are low. This demonstrates the need for strategies to enhance yields in organic crop fields (which are typically lower than those in conventional fields) without degrading the benefits of organic farming to biodiversity. I found that one such strategy can be to reduce crop sowing density, which benefited flowering weeds and thus indirectly bumblebees, without significantly affecting crop yields. I subsequently used data from the same farms in a study where I modelled the influence of landscape complexity on the cost-effectiveness of organic farming in promoting plant species richness. The costeffectiveness, in terms of achieving targets for increasing species richness at a landscape scale at the lowest possible cost, was highest in the least complex landscape. Lastly, I performed a study showing how a model can be used to predict environmental results in result-based payment schemes. The study demonstrated that resultbased payments can promote substantially more cost-effective agricultural pollution abatement than actionbased payments. In conclusion, this thesis has contributed with new knowledge about how existing conservation strategies affect biodiversity and ecosystem services, as well as proposed novel conservation strategies. The findings of this thesis can contribute to more effective and cost-effective conservation and promotion of biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes

Key words: biodiversity, ecosystem services, agri-environmental measures, cost-effectiveness, conservation				
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)				
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language		
		3 3		
		English		
ISSN and key title		ISBN		
		978-91-7895-753-8 (print), 978-91-7895-754-5 (pdf)		
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 203	Price		

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature III Siplan Holm

Date 2021-02-15

# Effective conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes

William Sidemo Holm



#### Cover illustration by Hedda Sidemo

Copyright pp 1-65 (William Sidemo Holm)

Paper I © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper II © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper III © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper IV © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper V  $\odot$  2018 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license

Faculty of Science Centre for Environmental and Climate Science

ISBN (print) 978-91-7895-753-8

ISBN (pdf) 978-91-7895-754-5

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2021





## **Table of Contents**

List of papers I-V	9
Author contributions	11
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	13
Introduction	17
Nature and people	17
The impact of agriculture on nature	18
Biodiversity conservation in agricultural landscapes	21
Thesis Aim	25
Methods	29
Study design and data collection	29
Analyses	31
Results and discussion	35
Conclusions and future perspectives	43
Acknowledgements	45
References	47
TACKI	59

## List of papers I-V

The thesis is based on the following papers, referred to in the text by their Roman numeral.

- I. Sidemo-Holm, W., Ekroos, J., Smith, HG. Conceptualizations of land sharing vs. land sparing – a systematic overview. Submitted to Conservation Science and Practice.
- II. Sidemo-Holm, W., Seufert, V., Birkhofer, K., Ekroos, J., Tschumi, M., Smith, HG. Organic farming benefits both rare and common species: a global meta-analysis. Manuscript.
- III. Sidemo-Holm, W., Carrie, R., Ekroos, J., Lindström, SAM., Smith, HG. Reduced crop density increases floral resources to pollinators without affecting crop yield in organic and conventional fields. Submitted to Journal of Applied Ecology.
- IV. Sidemo-Holm, W., Brady, MV., Carrie, R., Ekroos, J., Smith, HG. Cost-effectiveness of organic farming for conserving biodiversity in different landscape contexts. Manuscript.
- V. Sidemo-Holm, W., Smith, HG., Brady, MV., 2018. Improving agricultural pollution abatement through result-based payment schemes. Land Use Policy 77, 209-219.

## Author contributions

- I. WSH, HGS and JE conceived the idea. WSH designed the methodology, collected and analyzed the data and finally wrote the manuscript with input from HGS and JE.
- II. WSH, HGS and JE designed the study with input from VS, KB and MT. WSH and VS collected the data. WSH analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript with input from all authors.
- III. WSH, HGS, JE and SL conceived the idea and designed the methodology. WSH, RC and JE collected the data. WSH analyzed the data with input from HGS and JE. WSH wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the final manuscript.
- IV. WSH, MB and HGS conceived the idea and designed the methodology. WSH, JE and RC collected the data. RC developed the ecological model, and WSH and MB the ecological-economic model. MB calibrated the empirical economic model and ran the simulations. WSH analyzed the results with input from MB and RC. WSH wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the final manuscript.
- V. MB and HGS originally conceived the idea. WSH designed the models, performed the analyses and wrote the manuscript, all with input from MB. All authors contributed to the final manuscript.

# Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Idag används mer än en tredjedel av jordens markyta till jordbruksproduktion. Till följd av jordbrukets expansion har ytan naturliga habitat minskat, liksom bestånd och mångfald av vilda arter. Med en alltjämt växande världsbefolkning och ökande efterfrågan på jordbruksprodukter kommer troligtvis efterfrågan och därmed jordbruksproduktionen att fortsätta expandera på bekostnad av naturliga habitat och bli alltmer intensiv under kommande decennier. Exempel på negativa effekter av intensifiering av jordbruket inkluderar direkta och indirekta effekter på biologisk mångfald från användning av växtskyddsmedel och näringsläckage till vattendrag, sjöar och hav som uppstår vid användning av gödningsmedel. För att minska jordbrukets negativa påverkan får jordbrukare bidrag för att utföra miljöåtgärder. Några av de vanligaste miljöåtgärderna är att upprätthålla skötsel av permanenta gräsmarker, odla ekologiskt och placera skyddszoner mellan åkrar och vattendrag eller sjöar för att fånga upp ytavrinning av jordbruksföroreningar (framförallt fosfor). Ofta varierar miljöåtgärders effektivitet beroende på olika omständigheter. Till exempel kan effekten av ekologisk odling på biologisk mångfald vara olika beroende på hur mycket naturliga eller seminaturliga miljöer det finns i det omkringliggande landskapet. Miljöåtgärder ger ofta upphov till direkta kostnader för skapande och skötsel, samt inkomstbortfall när jordbruksmark används mindre intensivt eller tas helt ur bruk. Därför är det viktigt att miljöåtgärder både är effektiva på att bevara biologisk mångfald och ekosystemtjänster (dvs. produkter och tjänster från naturen som människor har nytta av), och är kostnadseffektiva så att värdeförlusten från jordbruksproduktionen minimeras.

I denna avhandling har jag analyserat befintliga, samt utvecklat nya, strategier för att möjliggöra effektivare och kostnadseffektivare bevarande av biologisk mångfald och ekosystemtjänster i jordbrukslandskap. Med jordbrukslandskap åsyftar jag sammanhängande områden med jordbruksproduktion som den huvudsakliga markanvändningen och vars yta sträcker sig över flera gårdar.

Jag har funnit att studier som har utvärderat alternativa markanvändningsstrategier som syftar till att kombinera jordbruksproduktion och bevarande av biologisk mångfald har fokuserat på ett fåtal organismgrupper (främst fåglar) och ekosystemtjänster (främst

kolbindning). Dessutom har bara ett fåtal studier mätt markanvändningsstrategier påverkar jordbrukares nettoinkomst. Istället har studier rapporterat den totala jordbruksproduktionen, vilken inte behöver korrelera med nettoinkomsten då kostnader och intäkter kan variera beroende på strategi och gröda. Ett resultat av detta relativt snäva fokus är att det inte går att veta hur undersökta strategier påverkar biologisk mångfald eller ekosystemtjänster i allmänhet, eller hur ekonomiska värden påverkas. För att bättre kunna tillgodose olika behov och mål gällande bevarande av biologisk mångfald, ekosystemtjänster och jordbruksproduktion, finns det ett behov av studier som med ett bredare fokus utvärderar markanvändningsstrategier för jordbruksproduktion och biologisk mångfald. Resultat från sådana studier kan sedan användas som informationsunderlag för att möjliggöra implementering av strategier med högre potential att generera ekologiska och ekonomiska värden.

Vid bevarande av biologisk mångfald är det viktigt att miljöåtgärder gynnar både vanliga arter som kan vara viktiga för ekosystemtjänster och ovanliga arter som riskerar att utrotas regionalt eller globalt. Ofta är ovanliga arter särskilt känsliga för jordbruksexpansion och -intensifiering, och därför i större behov av miljöåtgärder för att inte regional försvinna. Ekologisk odling är en miljöåtgärd som generellt gynnar biologisk mångfald jämfört med konventionell odling på grund av minskad användning av jordbrukskemikalier och mer komplexa växtföljder. Det har dock ifrågasatts om ekologisk odling har någon effekt på ovanliga arter, eller om det huvudsakligen är vanliga arter som gynnas. I en studie undersökte jag hur ekologisk odling påverkar leddjur, fåglar, daggmaskar och växter. Jag fann att ekologisk odling gynnar både ovanliga och vanliga arter av alla de undersökta organismgrupperna, och att ovanliga arter dessutom gynnas mest. Studien visar därför att ekologisk odling fungerar som en bevarandeåtgärd för ovanliga arter i jordbrukslandskap.

Ekologisk odling genererar generellt mindre skördar än konventionell odling, bland annat eftersom det utan växtskyddsmedel är svårare att bekämpa ogräs som konkurrerar med grödorna om näring, sol och vatten. Med hjälp av nya metoder, till exempel effektivare mekanisk ogräsbekämpning, finns det dock möjlighet att minska det så kallade skördegapet mellan ekologisk och konventionell odling. I en studie där jag undersökte biologisk mångfald i ekologiskt och konventionellt odlade fält med varierande skördar, fann jag att ekologiskt odlade fält med låga, men inte höga, skördar gynnade mångfalden av och mängden blommande växter. Samtidigt fann jag att mängden blommande växter i fälten gynnade individ- och artantalet humlor. Detta tyder på att jordbruksmetoder som åstadkommer högre skörd även leder till att fördelarna med ekologisk odling för biologisk mångfald försvinner. Därför är det viktigt att utveckla strategier som möjliggör att egenskaperna som leder till att ekologisk odling gynnar biologisk mångfald bevaras när skördehöjande jordbruksmetoder införs. Jag visade att en sådan metod kan vara att minska utsädesmängden så att avståndet mellan

varje frö av den sådda grödan ökar med ett antal centimeter. Jag fann att detta ökade mängden blommande vilda växter, vilket gynnar pollinatörer som utnyttjar dem som en födoresurs, utan att det påverkade skörden negativt. Denna typ av åtgärd är viktig för att bevara den positiva effekten av ekologisk odling vid införandet av skördehöjande åtgärder.

Genom att använda så kallad ekologisk-ekonomisk modellering, visade jag även att mängden permanenta gräsmarker i landskapet som omger jordbruksfälten kan påverka potentialen av ekologisk odling att gynna biologisk mångfald kostnadseffektivt. Jag fann att omvandlingen av konventionell till ekologisk odling för att gynna mångfalden av vilda växtarter är mer kostnadseffektiv i jordbrukslandskap utan eller med en låg andel permanenta gräsmarker. Detta betyder att det går att få större ekologisk nytta från ekologisk odling givet kostnaden om policyer rumsligt inriktar sig på landskap med få permanenta gräsmarker. Studien visade även att det är en stor skillnad på antalet växtarter i landskap med och utan permanenta gräsmarker och påvisade därigenom vikten av att bevara existerande permanenta gräsmarker i jordbrukslandskap.

Det är vanligtvis frivilligt att utföra miljöåtgärder såsom ekologisk odling på sin jordbruksmark. Jordbrukare som väljer att göra det får i utbyte en miljöersättning som ska kompensera för kostnader och inkomstbortfall. Ersättningar är traditionellt sett åtgärdsbaserade, vilket betyder att deras omfattning beräknas beroende på typ av miljöåtgärd och dess storlek. Detta kan dock leda till att de inte blir kostnadseffektiva, eftersom jordbrukare har ett ekonomiskt incitament att placera miljöåtgärder på den jordbruksmark som är minst lönsam, samtidigt som potentialen för att gynna biologisk mångfald och ekosystemtjänster kan vara betydligt större på en annan del av jordbruksmarken. Detta har lett till ett ökat intresse för resultatbaserade miljöersättningar. Med resultatbaserade miljöersättningar beror jordbrukares ersättning på hur utförda miljöåtgärder påverkar biologisk mångfald eller ekosystemtjänster. Det vill säga, ju effektivare åtgärderna är, desto mer får jordbrukarna betalt. Det har tidigare bevisats att resultatbaserade ersättningar är ett lovande policy-verktyg för att rumsligt rikta miljöåtgärder dit de gynnar biologisk mångfald mest kostnadseffektivt. Jag visade i en studie att resultatbaserade ersättningar även kan ge incitament för att kostnadseffektivt minska förorenande näringsläckage med hjälp av miljöåtgärden skyddszoner. Jag använde modeller för att uppskatta mängden fosforavrinning som skyddszoner kan minska beroende på deras placering. Mina resultat visade att relativt åtgärdsbaserade ersättningar kan resultatbaserade ersättningar öka jordbrukares vinst och minska förorenande näringsläckage till en lägre kostnad, både gällande betalda bidrag och förlorade värden från jordbruksproduktionen. Ett problem när det gäller resultatbaserade ersättningar är att det ibland är svårt att uppskatta vilken nytta en åtgärd genererat. I denna studie visade jag för första gången hur ett ersättningsystem kan baseras på uppskattningar av miljönyttan med hjälp av modeller. I Sverige liksom i många andra EU-länder finns det rumsligt explicit data som möjliggör modellering av hur åtgärder såsom skyddszoner minskar näringsläckage. Implementering av resultatbaserade bidrag för att minska näringsläckage skulle drastiskt kunna öka kostnadseffektiviteten av åtgärder såsom skyddszoner och bidra till hälsosammare och renare vattendrag, sjöar och hav.

Sammanfattningsvis så kan upptäckterna som har gjort i denna doktorsavhandling bidra med att öka effektiviteten och kostnadseffektiviteten av bevarande och gynnande av biologisk mångfald och ekosystemtjänster, vilket är viktigt både för människor och naturen.

## Introduction

#### Nature and people

Humans depend on nature. Nature produces the air we breathe, the food we eat, and purifies the water we drink. The great diversity of nature, and the actions and interactions of living organisms, are central for making the Earth habitable. Without nature, the Earth wouldn't be more livable than the moon.

The benefits that organisms provide to humans are commonly referred to as "ecosystem services" (MEA, 2005), or with a slightly more general term "nature's contributions to people" (IPBES, 2019). For producing ecosystem services that provide direct use values, e.g., an apple, there are typically several other underpinning ecosystem services involved (Fisher and Turner, 2008). For instance, for an apple tree to produce an apple, insect pollinators need to pollinate its flowers and the soil where it stands needs to be nutritious, which typically involves decomposing soil organisms. Other ecosystem services that benefit apple production include biological pest control (e.g., from arthropods and birds that feed on apple pests), water purification and erosion control. These and other ecosystem services are natural processes occurring as organisms strive to persist and thrive.

To maintain ecosystem functioning and provisioning of ecosystem services in different environments and over time, a diversity among living organisms (biodiversity) is fundamental (IPBES, 2019). Evolution has led to the origin of millions of species, where "every species is a masterpiece, exquisitely adapted to the particular environment in which it has survived" (Wilson, 2016). As species have adapted to different environments, they have evolved different functional traits, consisting of a wealth of adaptations in terms of their morphology, life-histories, diets etc. Species with different traits can contribute to particular ecosystem functions and services. For instance, insects with a short tongue are often more efficient pollinators of flowers with short corolla tubes, such as flowers of apple trees, while a long tongue is preferable for flowers with long corolla tubes, such as honeysuckle (cf. Klumpers et al., 2019).

Even in cases when a limited number of species currently provide the majority of a particular ecosystem service (e.g., crop pollination, Kleijn et al., 2015), a rich biodiversity with accompanying variation in traits can significantly increase the benefits (e.g., crop pollination and biolological pest control, Dainese et al., 2019). Because

different species are important for different functions at different places and times, biodiversity is needed for resilient provisioning of ecosystem services across different spatial and temporal scales (MEA, 2005). Furthermore, because species can respond differently to environmental changes, e.g., climate change and pollution, those that currently appear functionally redundant could in the future provide key ecosystem functions and services (Dee et al., 2019; Hooper et al., 2002).

In addition to materially important ecosystem services, such as those involved in food production, biodiversity contributes to less tangible values, including physical and mental health benefits from recreation, aesthetic enjoyment and spiritual experiences (IPBES, 2019). Ultimately, as with humans, other organisms have intrinsic value, i.e., they have a value for their own sake, and we therefore have a moral obligation towards them (Callicott, 1995).

In spite of our moral obligation towards nonhuman organisms, and their fundamental values to humans, there is currently an ongoing loss of biodiversity, both in terms of variation, such as extinction of species, and in numbers of individuals, that is faster than at any other time in human history (IPBES, 2019). The main drivers of this unprecedented decline include land-use change, climate change, invasive species, wildlife poaching and pollution (IPBES, 2019). Among the many human activities that fuel these drivers, none has arguably had a larger impact than the expansion and intensification of agriculture (IPBES, 2019; Maxwell et al., 2016).

#### The impact of agriculture on nature

More than a third of the land on Earth is used for agriculture (World Bank Group, 2018). Over the past 50 years, agriculture has become increasingly intensive due to technological advances and increasing demands for agricultural products from a growing and wealthier human population (FAO, 2017). Agricultural intensification has via increased production per unit area contributed to making food cheaper relative to disposable income (USDA, 2020), reduced the prevalence of undernourishment in the world (FAO et al., 2015) and will remain important in achieving Zero Hunger by 2030, one of United Nation's 17 Sustainable Development Goals (United Nations, 2015). At the same time, agricultural intensification is causing declines in biodiversity (Foley et al., 2005; Kehoe et al., 2017; Newbold et al., 2015; Tilman et al., 2001) and essential ecosystem services, including pollination (IPBES, 2016), biological pest control (Bianchi et al., 2006; Geiger et al., 2010), soil formation, nutrient cycling, and water regulation and purification (Rasmussen et al., 2018). The decline in ecosystem services that are important for agricultural production can to some extent be compensated. However, such solutions often exacerbate the negative impact on biodiversity and ecosystem services and are in the long run less resilient and sustainable than naturally occurring ecosystem services. For instance, increased use of mineral fertilizers and pesticides to compensate for degraded nutrient cycling and biological pest control respectively, leads to increased nutrient leaching, accelerated depletion of non-renewable phosphorus resources and further declines in biological control agents (Matson et al., 1997; Scholz et al., 2013).

Agricultural intensification involves both changes in field management and expansion into semi-natural habitats (Lüscher et al., 2016). Every second species found in agricultural landscapes exclusively occurs in semi-natural habitats such as semi-natural grasslands, field margins, hedgerows and forest remnants. The majority of the other half occurs in both semi-natural habitats and crop fields, while a smaller share exclusively occurs in crop fields (Lüscher et al., 2016). Therefore, impact of agricultural intensification on either of crop fields or semi-natural habitats can lead to local species loss.

Agricultural intensification involves increased use of synthetic pesticides and mineral fertilizers which negatively impact both target organisms, e.g., weeds and insect pests (Oerke, 2006), and non-target organisms, e.g., birds (Mineau and Whiteside, 2013) and bees (Rundlöf et al., 2015), in crop fields and nearby habitats (Egan Franklin et al., 2014; Geiger et al., 2010; Gonthier et al., 2014; Kleijn et al., 2009; Kleijn and Snoeijing, 1997). Pesticides and fertilizers also disperse and pollute ground and surface waters, giving rise to water purification costs and degraded fishery and loss of recreational values (Tilman et al., 2002). The dispersion of pesticides and fertilizers has also affected irrigation water quality, with the consequence that 15-35% of all withdrawals have become unsuitable for agricultural purposes (MEA, 2005). Furthermore, agricultural intensification has entailed increased meat production and use of fossil fuels to run heavy equipment and machinery (Willett et al., 2019), two of the main contributors to greenhouse gas emissions from the agricultural sector, which account for 10-13% of the world's total emissions (IPCC, 2015; Tubiello et al., 2014).

Another consequence of agricultural intensification is that agricultural landscapes are becoming increasingly simplified across multiple spatial and temporal scales. At the regional level, simplification occurs as regions become more specialized in particular production systems, e.g., livestock or crop production (Eurostat, 2021a). Likewise, individual farms are becoming increasingly specialized by focusing on either livestock or crop production (Eurostat, 2021a), and use increasingly simplified crop rotations involving a few high-yielding crop varieties (Aguilar et al., 2015). Such specialization has largely been enabled by greater accessibility to, and use of, external inputs. Fertilizers and livestock feed can be acquired from outside the farm, relaxing the need for farmers to produce their own manure for fertilizing crops and feed for livestock, while pesticide application relaxes the need for complex crop rotations as a remedy for pest control (Abson, 2019). Temporally, there is less variation in the growing period between and within fields, because farm management has become more synchronized

as a result of fewer crop types and more efficient land management (Robinson and Sutherland, 2002). There is also less within-field ecological heterogeneity because of weed control with herbicides, and fewer farmers practicing intercropping and polyculture (Abson, 2019; Benton et al., 2003). The heterogeneity of the environment beyond crop fields has decreased as fields have become larger (White and Roy, 2015) and farms fewer but larger (Ciaian et al., 2010), as a result of transformation of seminatural habitats, such as field margins, hedgerows and semi-natural grasslands (Benton et al., 2003).

Agricultural landscape simplification is affecting biodiversity negatively in various ways. Loss or degradation of semi-natural habitats leads to losses in the organisms residing there. It also reduces the connectivity among remaining semi-natural habitats, making it more difficult for species to recolonize habitats following stochastic extinctions (Hanski and Ovaskainen, 2000). Species living in semi-natural habitats frequently disperse to crop fields, where they stay, pass through, or use for collecting resources (Smith et al., 2014). Consequently, loss or degradation of semi-natural habitats also impacts the biodiversity in crop fields (Tscharntke et al., 2005). At the same time, within-field heterogeneity can benefit biodiversity in both crop fields and semi-natural habitats, by providing resources to mobile species inhabiting these habitats and making the matrix between semi-natural habitats more permeable (Sirami et al., 2019; Smith et al., 2014).

Agricultural landscape simplification can affect species differently depending on their traits. Species that have very specific needs, typically in terms of diet or habitat condition, are often affected more negatively by landscape simplification than species able to thrive in a broader variety of environmental conditions (Devictor et al., 2008; Gámez-Virués et al., 2015). Species with low dispersal ability and low fecundity have also been identified as being at higher risk of population declines or extinction because of landscape simplification (Börschig et al., 2013; Smith et al., 2014).

To sum up, the effects of agricultural intensification on usage of pesticides and fertilizers, and landscape simplification are the main drivers of the severe decline in biodiversity in agricultural landscapes (Benton et al., 2003; IPBES, 2019; Stoate et al., 2009).

## Biodiversity conservation in agricultural landscapes

With the global population projected to reach 9.7 billion by 2050 (United Nations, 2019), it will be a huge challenge to meet the food demand without severely degrading nature, and thereby threatening the existence of species and long-term supply of ecosystem services that are essential for agriculture and human welfare at large (Kehoe et al., 2017; Tilman et al., 2011).

Payments for agri-environmental measures are a key policy instrument to mitigate the negative effects of agriculture on biodiversity and ecosystem services (Baylis et al., 2008). In the European Union (EU), agri-environmental measures are implemented by farmers to protect or enhance biodiversity, water, soil, landscape quality, air quality and climate change adaptation and mitigation (European Commission, 2017). Agrienvironmental measures may for instance entail not using synthetic pesticides or fertilizers, or creating and maintaining semi-natural habitats. Organic farming is one of the most common agri-environmental measures in the EU, accounting for more than 8.5% of all farmland (Eurostat, 2021b). Organic farming involves farming without synthetic pesticides or mineral fertilizers and typically more complex crop rotation schemes compared to conventional farming. As a result, organic farms have higher species richness and abundance of wild organism than conventional farms (Bengtsson et al., 2005; Tuck et al., 2014). Other examples of agri-environmental measures include sowing flower strips along field margins (Haaland et al., 2011), restoring and maintaining semi-natural grasslands with required grazing pressure (Metera et al., 2010), and reducing agricultural pollution by growing cover crops and/or vegetated buffer strips that prevent fertilizers and pesticides from dissipating from crop fields and polluting surrounding environments (Abdalla et al., 2019; Haddaway et al., 2018). Agri-environmental measures can also benefit ecosystem services that enhance agricultural production, such as crop pollination (Garibaldi et al., 2014), pest control (Tschumi et al., 2016) and soil fertility (Busari et al., 2015).

The effectiveness of agri-environmental measures in benefiting biodiversity and ecosystem services often depends on spatial context, such as landscape complexity (Batáry et al., 2011; Kleijn et al., 2011; Tscharntke et al., 2005) and may differ between taxonomic and functional groups (Tuck et al., 2014). Therefore, a better understanding of the influence of context, such as that organic farming benefits biodiversity more effectively in simpler than in more complex landscapes (Tuck et al., 2014), is important to guide implementation of agri-environmental measures to where they are most effective.

Implementing agri-environmental measures usually entails management and opportunity costs, i.e., direct costs associated with carrying out measures and foregone

income from not optimizing the land use for agricultural production. Therefore, out of fairness and to encourage their implementation, policy schemes typically incentivize agri-environmental measures with payments that compensate for farmers' management and opportunity costs. It is important from a food security and welfare perspective that policy schemes incentivize cost-effective implementation of agri-environmental measures, i.e., high gains in biodiversity and ecosystem services relative to the management, opportunity and transaction costs (e.g., costs of controlling, monitoring and searching information). When measures are implemented cost-effectively, the loss in the value of agricultural production is minimized relative to the achieved conservation benefit (Wätzold and Schwerdtner, 2005). Since agri-environmental measures are typically funded by government subsidies, cost-effectiveness is also critical for high leverage with the available public funds (Boyd et al., 2015; Joseph et al., 2009), which are modest compared to what is required to reach global biodiversity targets (McCarthy et al., 2012). Furthermore, greater leverage of the public funds used for conservation is urgently needed as restoring biodiversity lost from agricultural landscapes is becoming increasingly expensive as land rent prices increase (Phelps et al., 2013) and more species become threatened (Drechsler et al., 2011).

Despite its importance, the cost-effectiveness of agri-environmental measures is often considerably lower than what is achievable (e.g., Batáry et al., 2015; Burton and Schwarz, 2013; Ferraro and Pattanayak, 2006; Fisher et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2016; Wätzold and Schwerdtner, 2005). Further, only a small share of the literature evaluating agri-environmental measures have analyzed cost-effectiveness (Ansell et al., 2016; Wätzold and Schwerdtner, 2005). Therefore, there is a pressing need for more research investigating the factors that impact the cost-effectiveness of agri-environmental measures; so that these can be designed to maximize the conservation benefits given the limited conservation budgets.

In addition to understanding what influences the cost-effectiveness of agrienvironmental measures, there is a need for policies that incentivize such implementation (Armsworth et al., 2012). Existing incentives to preserve biodiversity are by and large designed so that farmers receive payments depending on the type of agri-environmental measures and their extent, while the effects on biodiversity or ecosystem services do not impact the payment size. Consequently, farmers have a financial incentive to implement agri-environmental measures when the payments are greater than the opportunity and management costs. Conversely, the payments do not provide farmers with an incentive to optimize implementation of agri-environmental measures to preserve and promote biodiversity or ecosystem services. What is more, the potential benefits to biodiversity and ecosystem services can vary considerably depending on the type of agri-environmental measure as well as when and where it is implemented (Wätzold et al., 2015). However, without any incentive to achieve high benefits, farmers will likely implement agri-environmental measures to minimize their

costs rather than maximizing the benefits given the payment. In this respect, studies have shown that the cost-effectiveness of agri-environmental measures can increase considerably if payments are instead connected with environmental results (e.g., Barraquand and Martinet, 2011; Fleury et al., 2015; Klimek et al., 2008).

Within the EU, there is increasing awareness about the importance of better connecting payments with the outcomes of agri-environmental measures via result-based payment schemes (e.g., Herzon et al., 2018; Keenleyside et al., 2014). However, in-practice application has been limited, and generally restricted to ecological results that can be easily measured by proxies, such as specific plant species indicating high species richness in grasslands (e.g., Kaiser et al., 2010; Klimek et al., 2008; Wittig, 2006). Accordingly, outcomes that are difficult (costly) to measure have received less attention, e.g., abatement of nutrient emissions to water. However, when measuring pollution abatement at source is infeasible, it can instead be modelled (Rekolainen et al., 1999). Modelling rather than measuring the results of agri-environmental measures has the potential to expand the application of result-based payments and lead to more cost-effective conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services (Bartkowski et al., 2021).

To conclude, the increasing demand for agricultural products and unprecedented decline in biodiversity present an urgent and grand challenge for humanity, to develop and implement land use management that can meet the demands from a growing population while simultaneously protecting biodiversity and ecosystem services. I have devoted my thesis to increasing our knowledge of how agri-environmental measures impact agriculture and biodiversity conservation, and how to ensure that these measures are carried out cost-effectively.

## Thesis Aim

The aim of my thesis was to better understand how to preserve biodiversity and ecosystem services effectively and cost-effectively in agricultural landscapes. To this end, I used an array of different scientific approaches, including a systematic literature overview, a meta-analysis, an empirical field study, ecological-economic modelling and policy evaluation. Below follow motivations for the five individual papers of this thesis and the main research questions they address:

I. With a high and increasing global demand for agricultural products, and a generally negative impact from agricultural land use on biodiversity, it is crucial to develop and implement land-use strategies that reconcile agricultural production with biodiversity conservation. This has been explicitly studied by comparing the merits of the land-use strategies known as land sharing and land sparing. Land sharing is defined as low intensive agricultural production on a large area, which results in few remaining non-cropped habitats, and land sparing as high intensive agriculture on a smaller area, resulting in more remaining non-cropped habitats (Green et al., 2005). Comparisons are typically done when the agricultural production is equalized between the two strategies. In practice, land sharing is typically exemplified as wildlife-friendly agriculture, such as organic farming or agroforestry, and land sparing as conventional agriculture in combination with conservation of larger nature areas (Kremen, 2015). Ever since the dichotomy between land sharing and land sparing was introduced, there has been a vivid debate regarding which of the strategies is generally preferable to reconcile agricultural production with biodiversity conservation (Fischer et al., 2014). However, there is no systematic overview of what different taxonomic groups (e.g., birds and plants) or ecosystem services that the literature has considered. Importantly, it is also not known to what degree studies have measured different economic factors, such as opportunity costs. In this study, we address these matters by assessing which metrics of economic factors, biodiversity and potentially other

- ecosystem services have been used. This study thus shows potential knowledge gaps in what we know about land sharing and sparing.
- II. Organic farming is generally beneficial for biodiversity in comparison to conventional farming (Bengtsson et al., 2005). However, it is unknown if differences in biodiversity between the farming systems are mainly driven by common species, or if rare species of different taxonomic groups also benefit from organic farming (but see Lichtenberg et al., 2017). Because rare species are generally at higher risk of extinction, there is a need to analyze the impact of organic farming on rare species to better understand its conservation potential. In this study we performed a meta-analysis to investigate the impact of organic relative to conventional farming on rare and common arthropods, birds, earthworms and plants.
- III. Bumblebees are important pollinators of wild and cultivated plants (Ollerton, 2017). Although bumblebees utilize plants in flowering crops and semi-natural habitats, also flowering weeds that occur in low densities but over vast areas in agricultural fields, may provide important food resources, especially in landscapes devoid of other flower resources (Bretagnolle and Gaba, 2015). One of the reasons as to why organic farming is more beneficial to pollinators than conventional farming, is the higher abundance of flowering weeds in organic fields (Holzschuh et al., 2007). However, as new techniques are implemented to increase organic crop yields to approach those of conventional farms (e.g., effective mechanical weed control), there is a risk that flowering weeds will decline and hence their benefits to pollinators (cf. Röös et al., 2018). Therefore, to preserve viable pollinator communities in high-productive fields, there is a need for more evidence on how crop yields relate to pollinators and flowering weeds. If there is a trade-off between crop yield and flowering weeds, there may be a need for novel practices that enable larger organic crop yields without negatively affecting flowering weeds, to prevent the loss of the biodiversity benefits of organic farming. Here we address the question whether there is a trade-off between crop yield and flowering weeds and bumblebees in organic and conventional fields. We also investigate whether adjustments in crop sowing density has the potential to benefit flowering weeds, and thus indirectly bumblebees, without affecting crop yields.
- IV. Within the EU, farmers are offered payments to adopt agrienvironmental measures. Such measures often entail taking land out of

production, e.g., not cultivating field borders, or reducing farming intensity, e.g., organic farming, both of which result in less agricultural production (Zimmermann and Britz, 2016). From a societal perspective, it is desirable that agri-environmental measures achieve biodiversity conservation at the lowest possible loss in benefits from agricultural production, i.e., that they are cost-effective. One aspect that is known to typically have an impact on how well agri-environmental measures succeed in preserving biodiversity is landscape complexity, i.e., how much semi-natural habitat there is in the surrounding landscape (Batáry et al., 2011; Tscharntke et al., 2005). However, it is not known to what extent it might affect cost-effectiveness. Here, we assessed the influence of landscape complexity on the cost-effectiveness of organic farming for promoting flowering plant species richness.

V. Eutrophication caused by agriculture is a global ecological and economic problem that is degrading aquatic ecosystems as well as water quality (Tilman et al., 2002). To reduce eutrophication, governments often pay farmers to implement agri-environmental measures on their farmland that have the potential to reduce nutrient emissions from farmland, e.g., buffer strips along field borders adjacent to surface water to retain phosphorus runoff. These payment schemes are by tradition actionbased, which means that they are fixed depending on the type of measure and its area. For instance, Swedish farmers can receive 3000 SEK for each hectare of created and maintained buffer strip. This leads to farmers being financially incentivized to implement this measure where it has the lowest cost for the farmer, such as on land with low agricultural productivity. Conversely, farmers have no financial incentive to implement measures to maximize the environmental results, i.e., reducing nutrient emissions. The lack of connection between the payment and environmental results is the major reason why environmental payments to farmers have low effectiveness in achieving desired outcomes (Reed et al., 2014). An alternative approach, that promises higher effectiveness, is paying farmers for the actual results of their measures (Burton and Schwarz, 2013). Such result-based schemes provide incentives to farmers to implement measures such that the potential reduction of nutrient emissions is high relative to the management cost and foregone income from not farming the land. However, the feasibility of result-based schemes for reducing nutrient emissions has been questioned due to the difficulties and high costs associated with measuring the results (Schwarz et al., 2008).

Here we investigate if it is possible to design a result-based payment scheme for reducing nutrient emissions by modelling the results of implemented measures (actions). We also analyze the difference in cost-effectiveness between a current action-based scheme and a proposed modelled result-based payment scheme for reducing nutrient emissions from arable land.

## Methods

Below I describe how we designed the studies, and collected and analyzed the data, for each of the five papers in this thesis.

#### Study design and data collection

In Paper I, we reviewed the scientific literature, which empirically compares land-sharing and land-sparing strategies. We used a systematic approach to avoid bias in the selection of articles. We searched for articles in several databases, including Scopus and Web of Science Core Collection, for articles that had "land sharing" and "land sparing", or other synonym terms, in their titles, keywords or abstracts. The articles that matched the search string were then screened on titles and abstracts to remove those that did not meet our two conditions i) had studied land-use strategies that they defined as land sharing and land sparing (or synonyms), and ii) had reported empirical results. We then read the full texts of the remaining articles, removed additional articles that turned out not to match the criteria, and extracted data from a final set of 51 studies on the taxonomic groups, ecosystem services and economic factors they had studied.

In Paper II, we collected data from published articles to perform a meta-analysis of the impacts of organic and conventional farming on rare and common species. We searched through databases, including the Web of Science Core Collection, for articles that compared the abundance of species from four taxonomic groups (arthropods, birds, earthworms and plants) on organic and conventional farms. We screened articles that had used a matched pairs design to reduce the influence of confounding factors. We downloaded the data on species abundances when available on data repositories. When data was not available online, we contacted the authors and asked if they would share the data with us. We extracted additional data from the articles regarding where the study had taken place, where on the farms the data was collected (field center, field edge or field margin) and what crops were grown in the sampled fields. In the end, we extracted data on abundances and the additional factors from 83 studies that were performed in 22 different countries on five continents.

In Paper III, we carried out a field-based study in southern Sweden to compare biodiversity, crop yield and crop sowing distances across organic and conventional farms. The study was carried out on 19 farms in total, ten organic and nine conventional. Farms were selected to control for confounding factors that did not relate to management type, such as landscape complexity (measured as the proportion of semi-natural grasslands within 1 km radius of each field). We sampled two fields on each farm. Bumblebees and flowering weeds were surveyed along 1m × 100m transects within the central parts of the fields five times between May and August 2017. During each visit, we counted and identified bumblebees at the species level when walking along the transect for 10 minutes. We also estimated the flower cover (as a proxy for floral resources) and recorded the species of flowering weeds in the transects. Separately from the visits above, we visited each field at the end of June to measure the sowing distances between crop plants. This was done by placing a 0.5m × 0.5m frame five times along a 100m transect within the central parts of each field. Within the frame, we measured the distance between the stem at the bottom of crop plants within the same sown row (sowing distance within rows) and that between crop plants in parallel rows (sowing distance between rows). At the end of the season, the farmers provided us with estimates of the crop yield of each field. We assessed relationships between data on the collected variables using linear regressions.

In Paper IV, we develop a theoretical ecological-economic model to derive the optimal combination of agricultural land use (among conventional arable land use, organic arable land use and semi-natural grassland) to maximize profit given a biodiversity target. We then developed an empirical ecological-economic model to simulate how different proportions of the three land uses affect profit and flowering plant species richness. We used Positive Mathematical Programming (Howitt, 1995) to calibrate the economic optimization sub-model automatically and objectively to regional agricultural data and observed proportions of the three land uses. The ecological sub-model is a modified countryside biodiversity model (Pereira and Daily, 2006), which was calibrated using ecological data collected from an earlier field study (Carrié et al., 2018) involving the same farms as in Paper III.

In Paper V, we first developed a theoretical ecological-economic optimization model to derive farmers' optimal combination of arable land use to maximize profit given a pollution abatement target. In our model, farmers had the option to use arable land for production or measures that abate pollution. We included both action-based payments for measures that abate pollution and result-based payments for achieved pollution abatement in the model. We then compared the cost-effectiveness of action-based payments compared to result-based payments for achieving particular levels of pollution abatement.

We applied our theoretical model in **Paper V** in a case study with an existing farm of ca. 1500 ha of arable land located in southern Sweden. We assumed that the farmer could use arable land for crop production or implementing buffer strips to abate phosphorus runoff (a main contributor to pollution of surface water in Sweden). We

used ICECREAM, a process-based nutrient emissions model (Rekolainen and Posch, 1993), to calculate the phosphorus runoff from crop fields and potential pollution abatement from implementing buffer strips. We limited the potential widths of buffer strips to 6-20 meters and placement on arable land bordering surface water. This corresponded with the requirements to receive action-based payments for implementing buffer strips in Sweden at the time of the study.

To calculate phosphorus runoff and potential abatement by buffer strips, ICECREAM uses a combination of parameters that characterize the spatial context. The parameters are determined by the variables: geographical region, crop type, catchment area, soil texture, phosphorus in the soil and slope. We collected data on these variables to make our predictions with ICECREAM. We used a map to determine the geographical region according to the classification used in ICECREAM. We measured the slope and catchment area in each field using a digital elevation model with  $2m \times 2m$  cell size from Lantmäteriet that was processed in ArcGIS. The amount of phosphorus in the soil was classified using Eriksson et al. (1997), which was verified by results from soil analyses by the farmer. We determined the soil texture according to FAO's international soil taxonomy using Eriksson et al. (1999) and the WebbGIS tool from the County Administrative Boards of Sweden.

The farmer provided details of the crops that had been grown on the different fields over the previous five years. We also collected data for the same period to calculate the opportunity cost (foregone profit) of using arable land for buffer strips instead of agricultural production. This data consisted of average yields for each field, average crop prices (retrieved from Lantmännen and Nordic Sugar, the main local buyers in the region), and variable production costs based on regional enterprise budgets from a main advisory service (Hushållningsällskapet, 2013). The farmer supplied us with data about the location and width of buffer strips, as well as received agri-environmental payments, that were currently implemented on the farm.

#### **Analyses**

In Paper I, we compiled the extracted data and quantitatively assessed if there were any tendencies and research gaps regarding studied taxonomic groups and ecosystem services, and how often studies had measured production quantity and profit.

In Paper II, we classified species in each of the included 83 studies as rare or common. Species were classified as common if they were among the most common species that together comprised 80% of the total abundance of their taxonomic group. The less common species that comprised the remaining 20% of the total abundance were regarded as rare. Following this ratio, we classified species as rare or common using two

different methods, one is a study-based classification where we classified species based on their relative abundance in each analyzed dataset, while the other is based on the number of records of a particular species in the Global Biodiversity Information Facility database (GBIF) relative to the other species of the same taxonomic group in the same study. GBIF is an open-access database of spatially explicit records of species that have been collected by private persons and institutions from around the world. The GBIF-based classification was done based on records from the same country in which each study was performed, except for European studies where we used records from the whole of Europe, because there were no GBIF records for many of the species identified in European countries. The GBIF records were retrieved in August 2017 from www.gbif.org using the R library rgbif (Chamberlain et al., 2014).

We compared the abundance and species richness of rare and common species in organic and conventional fields using log response ratios (Hedges et al., 1999). We calculated log response ratios for each taxonomic group, as well as across all organisms, where species rareness was classified according to both the study-based and the GBIF-based methods respectively. We analyzed differences in abundance and species richness in organic and conventional fields by testing if the log response ratios were significantly different from zero based on one-sample t-tests. We also analyzed if there was a difference between how rare and common species were affected by organic vs. conventional farming, by testing whether their log response ratios differed based on independent-sample t-tests. We investigated the relationship between abundance and species richness with Pearson's correlation coefficient. Ultimately, we compared the similarity between the two rarity classification methods using the Jaccard similarity coefficient.

In Paper III, we used statistical models to analyze the relationships between biodiversity and different farm management practices. We used generalized linear mixed effect models (GLMM) to analyze the associations between the response variables, bumblebee species richness and bumblebee abundance, and the predictors: flower cover, farming system (organic or conventional) and crop yield. We also used GLMMs to analyze the associations between the response variables, flower cover and flowering weed species richness, and the predictors: sowing distance within rows, sowing distance between rows, farming system and crop yield. We used a general linear mixed effect model (LMM) to analyze the association between the response variable crop yield and the predictors: sowing distance within rows, sowing distance between rows and farming system. All GLMMs were fitted with maximum likelihood, and the LMM with restricted maximum likelihood. We controlled for the influence of landscape complexity (proportion of semi-natural grasslands in the surrounding landscape) and crop type in all models. We accounted for the non-independence between fields belonging to the same farm by including a random intercept term for farm identity. The significance of the relationships between predictors and response variables was

tested with likelihood-ratio tests. Models were fitted with the R-packages glmmTMB (Brooks et al., 2017) and lme4 (Bates et al., 2015) using R (www.r-project.org).

In Paper IV, we integrated the statistical ecological model with the economic optimization model to create an empirical ecological-economic model. We applied the empirical model to determine the cost-effectiveness of promoting plant species richness in a representative agricultural landscape. We set the landscape size at 1000 ha, which was the maximum area for which the ecological model could make predictions that were supported by the field data it was estimated with. We evaluated five different landscape scenarios, where 0%, 5%, 10%, 15% or 20% of the 1000 ha was assumed to be semi-natural grasslands. After solving the calibrated economic model without a biodiversity target, approximately 94% of the arable land area was managed conventionally and 6% organically to maximize total profit in the landscape. This baseline, in other words, corresponds to what the proportion of organic farming would be in the landscape if no policy payments were given to produce organically or manage semi-natural grasslands. Converting additional land from conventional to organic would therefore entail an opportunity cost but would on the other hand increase the species richness of flowering plants (according to the ecological model). We used the ecological-economic model to compare the marginal conservation cost (i.e., marginal opportunity cost for increasing species richness) for converting conventional arable land into organic in the different landscape scenarios.

In Paper V, we analyzed the cost effectiveness of action- vs. result-based payments to incentivize abatement of phosphorus runoff from arable land with buffer strips on a real farm. We first used the ICECREAM model to estimate the amount of phosphorus runoff that buffer strips of different widths would abate if placed at any of the possible locations on the farm. We then used an economic model based on opportunity costs to analyze where it would be profitable for the farmer to implement buffer strips given the action-based payment for buffer strips that existed at the time of the study (3000 SEK/ha). Since the action-based payment is area-based, the farmer would have maximized their profit by implementing the widest allowed buffer strips (20 m) at any profitable location. We then calculated the total budget needed to remunerate the farmer for implementing the buffer strips. Then we analyzed where the farmer would have implemented buffer strips, and at which widths, if payments would instead have been result-based. We used the same total payment budget as was required in the action-based scheme. We set the result-based payment (i.e., payment per unit abated phosphorus runoff) to maximize the total phosphorus abatement calculated with ICECREAM, given that the farmer would only implement profitable buffer strips. We repeated the analysis with result-based payments based on a budget corresponding to how much the farmer actually received for their implemented buffer strips. We used ICECREAM to calculate the amount of phosphorus runoff that would be abated by the profitable buffer strips under the different payment schemes, as well as the actually implemented buffer strips. We analyzed the opportunity cost per abated unit of phosphorus to compare the cost-effectiveness, and payment per abated unit of phosphorus to compare the budget efficiency, between the different schemes and budgets (including the existing scheme). We also assessed the impact of the different schemes on farm profit.

#### Results and discussion

In this thesis, I have explored how different conservation strategies can contribute to preserving and promoting biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes. I have particularly investigated aspects relating to the effectiveness and costeffectiveness of such strategies. My main results include that few of the published studies comparing land-use strategies that combine agricultural production and biodiversity conservation (framed as land sharing vs. sparing) have considered profit or ecosystem services, and that most studies have focused on a limited range of taxonomic groups (Paper I). I have also found that organic farming benefits both rare and common species (Paper II), and only increases floral resources to pollinators in crop fields when the yield is low (Paper III). However, reducing sowing density increased floral resources in crop fields without affecting yields (Paper III). I also found that the cost-effectiveness of organic farming for preserving biodiversity is influenced by landscape complexity (Paper IV). In the last paper (Paper V) I showed that a process-based model can be used to predict results in terms of reduced nutrient emissions, and that result-based payment schemes can increase the cost-effectiveness of nutrient emissions abatement by several times compared to action-based payment schemes. Below I report and discuss the results of the five papers comprising this thesis in more detail.

In Paper I we show that the studies comparing land-use strategies to achieve both biodiversity conservation and agricultural production (framed as land sharing vs. land sparing) have usually assessed the impacts of the strategies on a single taxonomic group, most commonly birds. Less than half as many studies assessed plants, arthropods or mammals. Two studies had assessed amphibians and one had assessed reptiles. Species richness between taxonomic groups often correlates poorly at taxonomic ranks corresponding to those specified above (Wolters et al., 2006). Within agricultural landscape, the low correlation in species richness between taxonomic groups can depend on varying species' traits, such that species respond differently to environmental changes (Smith et al., 2014). Thus, specific taxonomic groups cannot be used to draw conclusions about overall biodiversity without high uncertainty. Our study therefore shows that there is a need for more studies of the less studied taxonomic groups to better understand how they are affected by land-sharing and -sparing strategies. Ideally, these should study multiple taxonomic groups to understand the impact of the land-use strategies in the studied context.

In Paper II we performed a meta-analysis of 83 studies from 22 different countries to assess how rare and common species within different taxonomic groups were affected by organic and conventional farming. We found that the species richness and abundance of both rare and common species were higher on organic than conventional farms. The total abundance and species richness of rare species increased respectively by 77% and 20%, in contrast to the abundance and species richness of common species (56% and 4%). Thus, rare species benefited more than common species from organic farming, however, only significantly so for species richness. Similarly, when analyzing taxonomic groups individually, organic farming generally benefited rare species more than common species, and significantly so for plant species richness.

The positive biodiversity effects of organic compared to conventional farming has previously been shown in global syntheses that did not distinguish between rare and common species (Bengtsson et al., 2005; Tuck et al., 2014). This has also been shown by a global synthesis analyzing rare arthropods (Lichtenberg et al., 2017). However, Paper II is the first study to use a global dataset to analyze the effect of organic farming on rare species across several taxonomic groups (arthropods, birds, earthworms and plants). Furthermore, while Lichtenberg et al. (2017) and case studies (e.g., Kleijn et al., 2006; Kolářová et al., 2013) classified species rarity based on their relative abundance within studies, Paper II in addition used a rarity estimate independent of the analyzed data, which was based on relative differences between species in GBIF records within the country of each study (or within Europe if a European country). Our results were similar regardless of the rarity classification method, which increases our confidence in the robustness of our results.

Rare species are in general disproportionately threatened by human activities (cf. Pimm and Jenkins, 2010; Purvis et al., 2000). Therefore, for the sake of species' existence (UNEP, 1992), it is important that agri-environmental measures effectively benefit rare species. Promoting rare species is also important for their role in sustaining ecosystem functioning and services (Dainese et al., 2019). Rare species often possess less common or unique traits that influence, and increase the diversity of, ecosystem functioning and services despite their low abundances (Jain et al., 2014; Mouillot et al., 2013; Soliveres et al., 2016). Furthermore, rare species that currently have a limited functional role in ecosystems may depending on response traits contribute with essential ecosystem functions and services under future environmental conditions (Dee et al., 2019; Säterberg et al., 2019).

In Paper I we found that only a quarter of the literature comparing land sharing and sparing had measured effects on ecosystem services beyond agricultural production and biodiversity per se. While the initial framework only included agricultural production and biodiversity (Green et al., 2005), considering other ecosystem services enables more holistic assessments of how land-use strategies impact nature and people. However, studies measuring ecosystem services had almost exclusively only considered carbon

storage and only one study had assessed the impact of biodiversity via intermediate ecosystem services on agricultural production (Railsback and Johnson, 2014). Studies that do not account for ecosystem services may fail to acknowledge the importance of biodiversity for agricultural production in both the short and long terms (Ekroos et al., 2014). While other strands of the agri-ecological literature have investigated a wider spectra of ecosystem services, and their impact on agricultural production (Ricketts et al., 2016), there is a need for a better understanding of how large scale land-use strategies, such as land sharing and sparing, impact different ecosystem services (Grass et al., 2019). Thus, an increased focus from the land-sharing vs. -sparing literature on ecosystem services could both contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of their relative merits and increase the factual basis for land-use policies that strive to achieve welfare and conservation objectives.

In Paper III we compared cereal crop yields of organic and conventional farms, and analyzed how the type of farming system affects flowering weeds and bumblebees. We found that crop yields were on average 36% lower in organic compared to conventional fields. This is in line with what has been shown previously, and is usually caused by higher weed density, pathogen attack rates and nutrient limitation (Seufert et al., 2012). In contrast, organic fields had more bumblebee species as well as more species and floral resources of flowering weeds compared to conventional fields. The positive effect of organic farming on bumblebees was driven by floral resources. While cereal fields are not insect-pollinated, flowering weeds in cereal fields can be important to supply floral resources to maintain viable communities of bumblebees and other insect pollinators in agricultural landscapes (Bretagnolle and Gaba, 2015). Therefore, the increased floral resources in organic cereal fields can benefit the pollination of wild plants and crops that are insect-pollinated and grown in the same landscape (Bretagnolle and Gaba, 2015; Ollerton, 2017), such as field beans and oilseed rape (Free, 1993). However, our results showed that organic fields only had more floral resources than conventional ones in fields where organic crop yields were relatively low. In the more high-yielding organic fields, the abundance of floral resources was similar to that in conventional fields. There was no correlation between floral resources and crop yield in conventional fields, which may be due to herbicides maintaining a low density of weeds regardless of crop yield. The negative correlation between organic crop yield and floral resources is likely caused partly by yield-enhancing strategies involving weed removal (Röös et al., 2018) and partly by that crops and weeds compete for light, water and nutrients (Gaba et al., 2017; Oerke, 2006).

In Paper III we also demonstrated that it is possible to increase flowering weed species richness and floral resources without affecting crop yield by adjusting sowing distances. Typically, sowing distances are adjusted to maximize crop yield and suppress weeds. However, such relationships are usually demonstrated when comparing relatively high differences in sowing distances (Boström et al., 2012; De Vita et al., 2017; Kolb et al.,

2012). Here we instead showed that when using the standard row distance in Sweden (ca. 12.5 cm) in combination with an increase in the distance between crop plants within the same rows from 5 to 10 cm, floral resources and flowering weeds species richness both more than doubled, regardless of the type of farming system, while crop yield was unaffected. The positive effect on flowering weeds may be explained by reduced competition with crops. Meanwhile, crop yield may have been unaffected by a lower sowing density and more flowering weeds due to intra-crop compensation, i.e., grain weight and tiller capacity increases (Weiner et al., 2010). Thus, our results suggest that adjusting the sowing distance within rows can be a strategy to benefit flowering weeds, and indirectly bumblebees, without affecting crop yield. This could be an important strategy to avoid losing biodiversity benefits of organic farming when implementing yield-enhancing management.

When conducting field studies to assess how farming systems affect biodiversity, there is a risk that the results may be affected by confounding factors. A majority of studies that were included in the meta-analysis in Paper II had used a matched pairs design to reduce the impact of confounding factors, such as landscape complexity. A matched pairs design also controls for that farms within studies are from the same region and have comparable species pools, reducing the potential confounding impact from systematic differences in regional species pools between organic and conventional farms. In Paper III, it was infeasible to use a paired design (due to the scarcity of organic farms in some areas), so we instead carefully selected farms in a balanced manner along gradients of landscape complexity. Thus, although there in both studies is some risk that non-measured variables influence the results, we find it likely that the differences between organic and conventional farms in both Paper II and Paper III to a large extent can be attributed to the farming systems per se.

A large part of the literature compares the effect of conservation measures on biodiversity in agricultural landscape, but not values from agricultural production (Ansell et al., 2016). However, the strand of the literature that uses the land-sharing vs. -sparing framework explicitly focuses on alternative land-use strategies to reconcile biodiversity conservation with agricultural production (Green et al., 2005). We found that most studies comparing land sharing vs. sparing had measured the impact of the land-use strategies on agricultural or other commodity production, but less than 10% had measured the impact on farm profit (Paper I). Measuring the impact on production quantity is interesting, but it does not as such reflect the value of agricultural production. For that the costs of inputs, such as labor and capital, need to be accounted for as well. Only by measuring the profit (i.e., benefits after subtracting costs) is it possible to assess the welfare effects, as well as cost-effectiveness, of a particular land-use strategy.

In Paper IV we assessed the cost-effectiveness of increasing the proportion of organic farming in an agricultural landscape as a land-use strategy to promote flowering plant

species richness. We found that the cost-effectiveness of converting conventional into organic farmed land depends on landscape complexity. In general, organic farming increased species richness, both in absolute numbers and proportionally, most cost-effectively in less complex landscapes While it is well established that landscape complexity influences the effectiveness of organic farming in preserving biodiversity (e.g., Lichtenberg et al., 2017; Tuck et al., 2014), by showing the influence on cost-effectiveness, our study can contribute to enabling the conservation of more biodiversity given limited conservation budgets.

The ecological model used in Paper IV was calibrated with a relatively small data set (19 farms), all located in Scania in southern Sweden. Therefore, more research is warranted, with data from different regions, before the results can be extrapolated to other contexts. Furthermore, relative to conventional farming, both organic farming and semi-natural grasslands generate multiple benefits that were not assessed in our study, such as improved water quality, carbon storage, aesthetic values and enhanced biodiversity beyond plant species richness (Bengtsson et al., 2019; Kremen, 2020). Thus, from a holistic perspective, the relative merits of conventional farming, organic farming and semi-natural grasslands may be different when considering a broader range of values than agricultural production and biodiversity conservation. Furthermore, there are also other land-use options to consider, e.g., planting flower strips along field edges or hedgerows along field margins, which may be better options depending on the objectives, costs and environmental context (Kremen, 2020).

Strategies that preserve biodiversity most cost-effectively from society's perspective may still cause opportunity costs for farmers. Therefore, incentives that compensate for management costs and foregone income are often needed to encourage socially desirable land use and management. In Paper V we showed that modeling can be used to predict environmental results that are remunerated by result-based payments. We compared how a farmer would have maximized their profit by optimizing their arable land use for either agricultural production or agri-environmental measures when offered payments based on actions (area of buffer strips) or results (achieved phosphorus abatement). The farmers (through higher profit) and taxpayers (through more abatement and lower cost) both benefited from result-based payments relative to action-based payments. The cost-effectiveness, i.e., achieved abatement divided by opportunity cost, was approximately ten times higher with result-based payments compared to action-based payments.

Our results indicate that result-based payments can considerably contribute to reducing eutrophication by incentivizing the most cost-effective placements and widths of buffer strips. This is an important result, given that the agricultural sector is a major contributor to eutrophication in Sweden and Europe (Östersjöcentrum, 2017). The high gain in cost-effectiveness from paying for results rather than actions is mainly due to the high spatial variability in phosphorus runoff. According to the models, some

optional locations for buffer strips (i.e., arable land bordering surface water), had no runoff, while others received a relatively high share of the total farm runoff. Thus, it is crucial that farmers have strong incentives to place buffer strips where they are most effective, which in our dataset correlated with high opportunity costs (i.e., where action-based payments were least likely profitable). We only assessed the effect of buffer strips, but given the spatial heterogeneity of nutrient emissions, result-based incentives for locations of other spatially explicit measures, e.g., wetlands, cover crops and reduced usage of fertilizers, could also be expected to be more cost-effective than their action-based equivalent. While our study was confined to a single farm, the input data to run ICECREAM is available and can be used to inform a result-based payments scheme for the whole of Sweden.

It is not necessary to know about farmers' opportunity costs beforehand. Ideally, the payment level should be set to the social value of phosphorus abatement. However, as this is difficult to estimate, a general estimation of opportunity costs can be made to approximately set the payment at a level that is attractive enough to encourage phosphorus abatement to reach policy goals. Employing a result-based payments scheme to abate phosphorus with buffer strips, or in addition other pollutants by means of a menu of different measures, may entail higher transaction costs (e.g., administration and instructing farmers) than current action-based payment schemes (Bartkowski et al., 2021). However, these are likely outweighed by the advantages in terms of cost-effectiveness and in budget efficiency (Armsworth et al., 2012).

While we assumed that the farmer would make land-use choices to maximize profit, the farmer mentioned that he also implemented buffer strips to hedge farm income. Furthermore, he owned a large part of a lake that received much of the nutrient emissions from the farm, which could be expected to increase his preference to reduce nutrient emissions. These types of preferences that go beyond profit maximization are difficult to model and likely vary amongst farmers. However, an increased preference to reduce nutrient emissions will likely only impact the outcome from result-based payments in that farmers will allocate buffer strips as if the payment per abated unit nutrient emission was higher, and still prioritize the most cost-effective locations (while adding some less cost-effective ones). To evaluate the potential of result-based payments in the presence of such preferences, we also compared the results between the currently implemented buffer strips and those that would have been implemented if the farmer optimized for profit with the same budget used for result-based payments. As before, the farmer and taxpayers both benefited from result-based payments relative to actionbased payments. Result-based payments were shown to increase the cost-effectiveness almost three-fold.

As when measuring results, accuracy is crucial to ensure that modeled results are actually attained. The model we used to predict phosphorus emissions and retention, ICECREAM, is considered one of the most accurate for Scandinavian conditions

(Larsson et al., 2007). However, the modelled and the real-world outcomes will never be identical due to the impact of variables that are not or cannot be modelled, such as heavy rain events. However, given the extreme benefits of using results-based over action-based payments, the uncertainty accompanying the modelling should still not impede using models to predict results (Bartkowski et al., 2021).

## Conclusions and future perspectives

In my thesis, I have evaluated and developed new strategies to more effectively, and cost-effectively, preserve and promote biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes. I have found that within the land-sharing vs. land-sparing literature, there is a need for greater focus on less studied taxonomic groups, economic factors such as profit, and ecosystem services to gain a more holistic understanding about the social and ecological consequences of different land-use strategies.

To preserve biodiversity as such, it is critical that conservation efforts benefit rare species, which are often comparatively susceptible to human activities, including intensive agricultural land use (cf. Allan et al., 2014; Kleijn et al., 2009; Suding et al., 2005). Therefore, our results, showing that organic farming relative to conventional farming can contribute to preserving abundances and species richness of rare species, provide important support for organic farming as a strategy to preserve biodiversity. This result is conditional on that organic farming would not cause unintended off-site biodiversity loss if reduced yields are compensated by production moving elsewhere on the globe (Phalan et al., 2011). Further research will be needed to better understand the mechanistic links between benefits to rare species and specific management actions associated with organic farming. Such understanding can help to predict potential trade-offs between preserving rare species and agricultural production. Nevertheless, our results, based on data from 83 studies, which were consistent for two classifications of rarity, strongly suggest that organic management leads to more abundant and diverse communities of both rare and common arthropods, birds, earthworms and plants.

My thesis also shows that yield-enhancing management on organic farms (e.g., increased fertilization and weed removal, cf. Röös et al., 2018) risks degrading the benefits to biodiversity and associated ecosystem services. This indicates a need for strategies that retain aspects of organic farming that benefit biodiversity when implementing yield-enhancing management. We showed that one such strategy may be decreasing sowing density by increasing the sowing distance within rows, which had a clear positive impact on flowering weeds and the resources these provide to pollinators, without causing yield losses.

My thesis also showed that landscape complexity influences the trade-off between benefits of organic farming to biodiversity and agricultural production. More precisely, the conversion of conventional to organic farmland to benefit flowering plant species richness could be done with a lower net loss in value from agricultural production in less complex landscapes.

Result-based payments is a promising policy instrument to spatially target measures to preserve biodiversity where they are the most cost-effective (e.g., Matzdorf and Lorenz, 2010; Wittig, 2006). We demonstrate that result-based payments can also incentivize cost-effective measures and placements of such to reduce nutrient pollution by modelling the results. Compared to traditional action-based payments, results-based payments can increase the farmer's profit and achieve higher pollution abatement at a lower cost. In Sweden, and likely other EU Member States, there are spatially explicit data available to apply our approach. This could dramatically improve the cost-effectiveness of agricultural pollution abatement and thereby contribute to healthier and cleaner waters. Buffer strips and other measures that reduce pollution can also benefit biodiversity (Cole et al., 2020; Underwood and Tucker, 2016), and a potential development for future result-based payment schemes could be to incentivize implementation of AEMs to promote multiple benefits.

Looking forward, there are clear benefits of accounting for factors influencing the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of environmental measures and conservation strategies. Because resources are limited, it is essential that conservation strategies are as effective and cost-effective as possible. My thesis contributes to this cause by discovering new benefits of existing strategies (e.g., organic farming benefits rare species), entirely new strategies (e.g., adjusting sowing distances to benefit biodiversity without affecting crop yield), impact of contexts (e.g., landscape complexity's impact on how cost-effectively organic farming promotes biodiversity) and new applications of incentives to encourage optimal implementation of conservation strategies (e.g., result-based payments for modelled results).

### Acknowledgements

My PhD position was funded by the Faculty of Science at Lund University. Costs associated with the data collection for Paper III and IV were covered by a grant to HGS from the Swedish Research Council FORMAS. Authors of the studies included in Paper II provided data for the meta-analysis. For Paper III, IV and V, farmers and landowners allowed me and my colleagues to collect data from their farms and responded to surveys about their farming practices and crop yield. I sincerely thank the above-mentioned people and institutes that made this thesis possible.

#### References

- Abdalla, M., Hastings, A., Cheng, K., Yue, Q., Chadwick, D., Espenberg, M., Truu, J., Rees, R.M., Smith, P., 2019. A critical review of the impacts of cover crops on nitrogen leaching, net greenhouse gas balance and crop productivity. Global change biology 25, 2530-2543, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14644">https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14644</a>.
- Abson, D.J., 2019. The economic drivers and consequences of agricultural specialization, Agroecosystem Diversity. Elsevier, pp. 301-315, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811050-8.00019-4">https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811050-8.00019-4</a>.
- Aguilar, J., Gramig, G.G., Hendrickson, J.R., Archer, D.W., Forcella, F., Liebig, M.A., 2015. Crop species diversity changes in the United States: 1978–2012. PloS one 10, e0136580, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0136580">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0136580</a>.
- Allan, E., Bossdorf, O., Dormann, C.F., Prati, D., Gossner, M.M., Tscharntke, T., Blüthgen, N., Bellach, M., Birkhofer, K., Boch, S., 2014. Interannual variation in land-use intensity enhances grassland multidiversity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111, 308-313, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1312213111">https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1312213111</a>.
- Ansell, D., Freudenberger, D., Munro, N., Gibbons, P., 2016. The cost-effectiveness of agrienvironment schemes for biodiversity conservation: A quantitative review. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 225, 184-191.
- Armsworth, P.R., Acs, S., Dallimer, M., Gaston, K.J., Hanley, N., Wilson, P., 2012. The cost of policy simplification in conservation incentive programs. Ecology Letters 15, 406-414, 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2012.01747.x.
- Barraquand, F., Martinet, V., 2011. Biological conservation in dynamic agricultural landscapes: effectiveness of public policies and trade-offs with agricultural production. Ecological Economics 70, 910-920.
- Bartkowski, B., Droste, N., Ließ, M., Sidemo-Holm, W., Weller, U., Brady, M.V., 2021. Payments by modelled results: A novel design for agri-environmental schemes. Land Use Policy 102, 105230, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.105230">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.105230</a>.
- Batáry, P., Báldi, A., Kleijn, D., Tscharntke, T., 2011. Landscape-moderated biodiversity effects of agri-environmental management: a meta-analysis. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 278, 1894-1902, doi:10.1098/rspb.2010.1923.
- Batáry, P., Dicks, L.V., Kleijn, D., Sutherland, W.J., 2015. The role of agri-environment schemes in conservation and environmental management. Conservation Biology 29, 1006-1016, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12536">https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12536</a>.

- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software 67, 48, <a href="https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01">https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01</a>.
- Baylis, K., Peplow, S., Rausser, G., Simon, L., 2008. Agri-environmental policies in the EU and United States: A comparison. Ecological economics 65, 753-764, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.07.034">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.07.034</a>.
- Bengtsson, J., Ahnström, J., Weibull, A.-C., 2005. The effects of organic agriculture on biodiversity and abundance: a meta-analysis. Journal of applied ecology 42, 261-269, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2005.01005.x.
- Bengtsson, J., Bullock, J., Egoh, B., Everson, C., Everson, T., O'Connor, T., O'Farrell, P., Smith, H., Lindborg, R., 2019. Grasslands—more important for ecosystem services than you might think. Ecosphere 10, e02582, https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2582.
- Benton, T.G., Vickery, J.A., Wilson, J.D., 2003. Farmland biodiversity: is habitat heterogeneity the key? Trends in Ecology & Evolution 18, 182-188, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00011-9">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00011-9</a>.
- Bianchi, F.J., Booij, C., Tscharntke, T., 2006. Sustainable pest regulation in agricultural landscapes: a review on landscape composition, biodiversity and natural pest control. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 273, 1715-1727, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.3530">https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.3530</a>.
- Börschig, C., Klein, A.-M., von Wehrden, H., Krauss, J., 2013. Traits of butterfly communities change from specialist to generalist characteristics with increasing land-use intensity. Basic and Applied Ecology 14, 547-554, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2013.09.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2013.09.002</a>.
- Boström, U., Anderson, L.E., Wallenhammar, A.-C., 2012. Seed distance in relation to row distance: Effect on grain yield and weed biomass in organically grown winter wheat, spring wheat and spring oats. Field Crops Research 134, 144-152, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2012.06.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2012.06.001</a>.
- Boyd, J., Epanchin-Niell, R., Siikamäki, J., 2015. Conservation planning: a review of return on investment analysis. Review of Environmental Economics and Policy 9, 23-42.
- Bretagnolle, V., Gaba, S., 2015. Weeds for bees? A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 35, 891-909, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-015-0302-5">https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-015-0302-5</a>.
- Brooks, M.E., Kristensen, K., van Benthem, K.J., Magnusson, A., Berg, C.W., Nielsen, A., Skaug, H.J., Machler, M., Bolker, B.M., 2017. glmmTMB balances speed and flexibility among packages for zero-inflated generalized linear mixed modeling. The R journal 9, 378-400, <a href="https://doi.org/10.32614/RJ-2017-066">https://doi.org/10.32614/RJ-2017-066</a>.
- Burton, R.J.F., Schwarz, G., 2013. Result-oriented agri-environmental schemes in Europe and their potential for promoting behavioural change. Land Use Policy 30, 628-641, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2012.05.002">http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2012.05.002</a>.
- Busari, M.A., Kukal, S.S., Kaur, A., Bhatt, R., Dulazi, A.A., 2015. Conservation tillage impacts on soil, crop and the environment. International Soil and Water Conservation Research 3, 119-129, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iswcr.2015.05.002.

- Callicott, J.B., 1995. Intrinsic value in nature: A metaethical analysis. Electronic Journal of Analytic Philosophy 3.
- Carrié, R., Ekroos, J., Smith, H.G., 2018. Organic farming supports spatiotemporal stability in species richness of bumblebees and butterflies. Biological Conservation 227, 48-55, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.08.022">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.08.022</a>.
- Chamberlain, S., Ram, K., Barve, V., Mcglinn, D., 2014. rgbif: interface to the global biodiversity information facility API. R package version 0.77.
- Ciaian, P., Kancs, d.A., Swinnen, J.F., 2010. EU land markets and the Common Agricultural Policy. CEPS Paperbacks.
- Cole, L.J., Stockan, J., Helliwell, R., 2020. Managing riparian buffer strips to optimise ecosystem services: A review. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 296, 106891, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2020.106891.
- Dainese, M., Martin, E.A., Aizen, M.A., Albrecht, M., Bartomeus, I., Bommarco, R., Carvalheiro, L.G., Chaplin-Kramer, R., Gagic, V., Garibaldi, L.A., Ghazoul, J., Grab, H., Jonsson, M., Karp, D.S., Kennedy, C.M., Kleijn, D., Kremen, C., Landis, D.A., Letourneau, D.K., Marini, L., Poveda, K., Rader, R., Smith, H.G., Tscharntke, T., Andersson, G.K.S., Badenhausser, I., Baensch, S., Bezerra, A.D.M., Bianchi, F.J.J.A., Boreux, V., Bretagnolle, V., Caballero-Lopez, B., Cavigliasso, P., Ćetković, A., Chacoff, N.P., Classen, A., Cusser, S., da Silva e Silva, F.D., de Groot, G.A., Dudenhöffer, J.H., Ekroos, J., Fijen, T., Franck, P., Freitas, B.M., Garratt, M.P.D., Gratton, C., Hipólito, J., Holzschuh, A., Hunt, L., Iverson, A.L., Jha, S., Keasar, T., Kim, T.N., Kishinevsky, M., Klatt, B.K., Klein, A.-M., Krewenka, K.M., Krishnan, S., Larsen, A.E., Lavigne, C., Liere, H., Maas, B., Mallinger, R.E., Martinez Pachon, E., Martínez-Salinas, A., Meehan, T.D., Mitchell, M.G.E., Molina, G.A.R., Nesper, M., Nilsson, L., Rourke, M.E., Peters, M.K., Plećaš, M., Potts, S.G., Ramos, D.d.L., Rosenheim, J.A., Rundlöf, M., Rusch, A., Sáez, A., Scheper, J., Schleuning, M., Schmack, J.M., Sciligo, A.R., Seymour, C., Stanley, D.A., Stewart, R., Stout, J.C., Sutter, L., Takada, M.B., Taki, H., Tamburini, G., Tschumi, M., Viana, B.F., Westphal, C., Willcox, B.K., Wratten, S.D., Yoshioka, A., Zaragoza-Trello, C., Zhang, W., Zou, Y., Steffan-Dewenter, I., 2019. A global synthesis reveals biodiversity-mediated benefits for crop production. Science Advances 5, eaax0121, https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aax0121.
- De Vita, P., Colecchia, S.A., Pecorella, I., Saia, S., 2017. Reduced inter-row distance improves yield and competition against weeds in a semi-dwarf durum wheat variety. European Journal of Agronomy 85, 69-77, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2017.02.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2017.02.003</a>.
- Dee, L.E., Cowles, J., Isbell, F., Pau, S., Gaines, S.D., Reich, P.B., 2019. When do ecosystem services depend on rare species? Trends in ecology & evolution 34, 746-758, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2019.03.010">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2019.03.010</a>.
- Devictor, V., Julliard, R., Jiguet, F., 2008. Distribution of specialist and generalist species along spatial gradients of habitat disturbance and fragmentation. Oikos 117, 507-514, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2008.16215.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2008.16215.x</a>.
- Drechsler, M., Eppink, F.V., Wätzold, F., 2011. Does proactive biodiversity conservation save costs? Biodiversity and Conservation 20, 1045-1055.

- Egan Franklin, J., Bohnenblust, E., Goslee, S., Mortensen, D., Tooker, J., 2014. Herbicide drift can affect plant and arthropod communities. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 185, 77-87, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.12.017">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.12.017</a>.
- Ekroos, J., Olsson, O., Rundlöf, M., Wätzold, F., Smith, H.G., 2014. Optimizing agrienvironment schemes for biodiversity, ecosystem services or both? Biological Conservation 172, 65-71, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.02.013.
- Eriksson, J., Andersson, A., Andersson, R., 1997. Tillståndet i svensk åkermark. Naturvårdsverket Stockholm.
- Eriksson, J., Andersson, A., Andersson, R., 1999. Akermarkens matjordstyper. Naturvårdsverket, Stockholm.
- European Commission, 2017. Agri-environmental schemes: how to enhance the agriculture-environment relationship, in: 57, T.I. (Ed.), Science for Environment Policy. European Commission DG Environment.
- Eurostat, 2021a. Agri-environmental indicator specialisation.
- Eurostat, 2021b. Organic farming statistics, <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Organic farming statistics">https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Organic farming statistics</a>.
- FAO, 2017. The future of food and agriculture Trends and challenges. Rome.
- FAO, IFAD, WFP, 2015. The state of food insecurity in the world 2015. meeting the 2015 international hunger targets: taking stock of uneven progress. Rome: FAO.
- Ferraro, P.J., Pattanayak, S.K., 2006. Money for nothing? A call for empirical evaluation of biodiversity conservation investments. PLoS biology 4, e105.
- Fischer, J., Abson, D.J., Butsic, V., Chappell, M.J., Ekroos, J., Hanspach, J., Kuemmerle, T., Smith, H.G., Wehrden, H., 2014. Land sparing versus land sharing: moving forward. Conservation Letters 7, 149-157, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12084">https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12084</a>.
- Fisher, B., Balmford, A., Ferraro, P.J., Glew, L., Mascia, M., Naidoo, R., Ricketts, T.H., 2014. Moving Rio forward and avoiding 10 more years with little evidence for effective conservation policy. Conservation Biology 28, 880-882.
- Fisher, B., Turner, R.K., 2008. Ecosystem services: classification for valuation. Biological conservation 141, 1167-1169, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.02.019">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.02.019</a>.
- Fleury, P., Seres, C., Dobremez, L., Nettier, B., Pauthenet, Y., 2015. "Flowering Meadows", a result-oriented agri-environmental measure: Technical and value changes in favour of biodiversity. Land Use Policy 46, 103-114, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2015.02.007">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2015.02.007</a>.
- Foley, J.A., DeFries, R., Asner, G.P., Barford, C., Bonan, G., Carpenter, S.R., Chapin, F.S., Coe, M.T., Daily, G.C., Gibbs, H.K., 2005. Global consequences of land use. science 309, 570-574.
- Free, J.B., 1993. Insect pollination of crops. Academic press.
- Gaba, S., Perronne, R., Fried, G., Gardarin, A., Bretagnolle, F., Biju-Duval, L., Colbach, N., Cordeau, S., Fernández-Aparicio, M., Gauvrit, C., 2017. Response and effect traits of arable weeds in agro-ecosystems: a review of current knowledge. Weed Research 57, 123-147, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12245">https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12245</a>.

- Gámez-Virués, S., Perović, D.J., Gossner, M.M., Börschig, C., Blüthgen, N., De Jong, H., Simons, N.K., Klein, A.-M., Krauss, J., Maier, G., 2015. Landscape simplification filters species traits and drives biotic homogenization. Nature communications 6, 1-8, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9568">https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9568</a>.
- Garibaldi, L.A., Carvalheiro, L.G., Leonhardt, S.D., Aizen, M.A., Blaauw, B.R., Isaacs, R., Kuhlmann, M., Kleijn, D., Klein, A.M., Kremen, C., 2014. From research to action: enhancing crop yield through wild pollinators. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 12, 439-447.
- Geiger, F., Bengtsson, J., Berendse, F., Weisser, W.W., Emmerson, M., Morales, M.B., Ceryngier, P., Liira, J., Tscharntke, T., Winqvist, C., 2010. Persistent negative effects of pesticides on biodiversity and biological control potential on European farmland. Basic and Applied Ecology 11, 97-105.
- Gonthier, D.J., Ennis, K.K., Farinas, S., Hsieh, H.-Y., Iverson, A.L., Batáry, P., Rudolphi, J., Tscharntke, T., Cardinale, B.J., Perfecto, I., 2014. Biodiversity conservation in agriculture requires a multi-scale approach. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 281, 20141358.
- Grass, I., Loos, J., Baensch, S., Batáry, P., Librán-Embid, F., Ficiciyan, A., Klaus, F., Riechers, M., Rosa, J., Tiede, J., 2019. Land-sharing/-sparing connectivity landscapes for ecosystem services and biodiversity conservation. People and Nature 1, 262-272, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.21">https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.21</a>.
- Green, R.E., Cornell, S.J., Scharlemann, J.P., Balmford, A., 2005. Farming and the fate of wild nature. Science 307, 550-555, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1106049">https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1106049</a>.
- Haaland, C., Naisbit, R.E., Bersier, L.F., 2011. Sown wildflower strips for insect conservation: a review. Insect Conservation and Diversity 4, 60-80.
- Haddaway, N.R., Brown, C., Eales, J., Eggers, S., Josefsson, J., Kronvang, B., Randall, N.P., Uusi-Kämppä, J., 2018. The multifunctional roles of vegetated strips around and within agricultural fields. Environmental Evidence 7, 14, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s13750-018-0126-2">https://doi.org/10.1186/s13750-018-0126-2</a>.
- Hanski, I., Ovaskainen, O., 2000. The metapopulation capacity of a fragmented landscape. Nature 404, 755-758, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/35008063">https://doi.org/10.1038/35008063</a>.
- Hedges, L.V., Gurevitch, J., Curtis, P.S., 1999. THE META-ANALYSIS OF RESPONSE RATIOS IN EXPERIMENTAL ECOLOGY. Ecology 80, 1150-1156, https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(1999)080[1150:TMAORR]2.0.CO;2.
- Herzon, I., Birge, T., Allen, B., Povellato, A., Vanni, F., Hart, K., Radley, G., Tucker, G., Keenleyside, C., Oppermann, R., 2018. Time to look for evidence: results-based approach to biodiversity conservation on farmland in Europe. Land use policy 71, 347-354.
- Holzschuh, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Kleijn, D., Tscharntke, T., 2007. Diversity of flower-visiting bees in cereal fields: effects of farming system, landscape composition and regional context. Journal of Applied Ecology 44, 41-49, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01259.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01259.x</a>.

- Hooper, D., Solan, M., Symstad, A., Diaz, S., Gessner, M., Buchmann, N., Degrange, V., Grime, P., Hulot, F., Mermillod-Blondin, F., 2002. Species diversity, functional diversity and ecosystem functioning. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: synthesis and perspectives, 195-208.
- Howitt, R.E., 1995. Positive mathematical programming. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 77, 329-342, <a href="https://doi.org/10.2307/1243543">https://doi.org/10.2307/1243543</a>.
- Hushållningsällskapet, 2013. Produktionsgrenskalkyler för växtodling. Hushållningssällskapet i Kalmar-Kronober-Blekinge, Kristianstad, Malmöhus och Halland.
- IPBES, 2016. The assessment report of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services on pollinators, pollination and food production. Potts, S. G., Imperatriz-Fonseca, V. L., Ngo, H. T (eds). Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services, Bonn, Germany, p. 552, <a href="https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3402856">https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3402856</a>.
- IPBES, 2019. Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany, p. 56, <a href="https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3553579">https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3553579</a>
- IPCC, 2015. Climate change 2014: Mitigation of climate change. Cambridge University Press.
- Jain, M., Flynn, D.F., Prager, C.M., Hart, G.M., DeVan, C.M., Ahrestani, F.S., Palmer, M.I., Bunker, D.E., Knops, J.M., Jouseau, C.F., 2014. The importance of rare species: A trait-based assessment of rare species contributions to functional diversity and possible ecosystem function in tall-grass prairies. Ecology and Evolution 4, 104-112, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.915">https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.915</a>.
- Joseph, L.N., Maloney, R.F., Possingham, H.P., 2009. Optimal allocation of resources among threatened species: a project prioritization protocol. Conservation biology 23, 328-338.
- Kaiser, T., Rohner, M.-S., Matzdorf, B., Kiesel, J., 2010. Validation of grassland indicator species selected for result-oriented agri-environmental schemes. Biodiversity and conservation 19, 1297-1314, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-009-9762-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-009-9762-8</a>.
- Keenleyside, C., Radley, G., Tucker, G., Underwood, E., Hart, K., Allen, B., Menadue, H., 2014. Results-based Payments for Biodiversity Guidance Handbook: Designing and implementing results-based agri-environment schemes 2014–20. Prepared for the European Commission, DG Environment, Contract No ENV. B 2.
- Kehoe, L., Romero-Muñoz, A., Polaina, E., Estes, L., Kreft, H., Kuemmerle, T., 2017. Biodiversity at risk under future cropland expansion and intensification. Nature Ecology & Evolution 1, 1129-1135, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0234-3.
- Kleijn, D., Baquero, R., Clough, Y., Diaz, M., Esteban, J.d., Fernández, F., Gabriel, D., Herzog, F., Holzschuh, A., Jöhl, R., 2006. Mixed biodiversity benefits of agrienvironment schemes in five European countries. Ecology letters 9, 243-254, <a href="http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00869.x">http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00869.x</a>.
- Kleijn, D., Kohler, F., Báldi, A., Batáry, P., Concepción, E., Clough, Y., Díaz, M., Gabriel, D., Holzschuh, A., Knop, E., 2009. On the relationship between farmland biodiversity

- and land-use intensity in Europe. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 276, 903-909, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2008.1509">https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2008.1509</a>.
- Kleijn, D., Rundlöf, M., Scheper, J., Smith, H.G., Tscharntke, T., 2011. Does conservation on farmland contribute to halting the biodiversity decline? Trends in ecology & evolution 26, 474-481, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.05.009">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.05.009</a>.
- Kleijn, D., Snoeijing, G.I.J., 1997. Field boundary vegetation and the effects of agrochemical drift: botanical change caused by low levels of herbicide and fertilizer. Journal of Applied Ecology, 1413-1425, <a href="https://doi.org/10.2307/2405258">https://doi.org/10.2307/2405258</a>.
- Kleijn, D., Winfree, R., Bartomeus, I., Carvalheiro, L.G., Henry, M., Isaacs, R., Klein, A.-M., Kremen, C., M'gonigle, L.K., Rader, R., 2015. Delivery of crop pollination services is an insufficient argument for wild pollinator conservation. Nature communications 6, 7414, https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8414.
- Klimek, S., Kemmermann, A.R., Steinmann, H.-H., Freese, J., Isselstein, J., 2008. Rewarding farmers for delivering vascular plant diversity in managed grasslands: A transdisciplinary case-study approach. Biological Conservation 141, 2888-2897, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.08.025">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.08.025</a>.
- Klumpers, S.G., Stang, M., Klinkhamer, P.G., 2019. Foraging efficiency and size matching in a plant–pollinator community: the importance of sugar content and tongue length. Ecology letters 22, 469-479, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13204">https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13204</a>.
- Kolářová, M., Tyšer, L., Soukup, J., 2013. Impact of site conditions and farming practices on the occurrence of rare and endangered weeds on arable land in the Czech Republic. Weed Research 53, 489-498, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12045">https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12045</a>.
- Kolb, L.N., Gallandt, E.R., Mallory, E.B., 2012. Impact of spring wheat planting density, row spacing, and mechanical weed control on yield, grain protein, and economic return in Maine. Weed science 60, 244-253, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1614/WS-D-11-00118.1">https://doi.org/10.1614/WS-D-11-00118.1</a>.
- Kremen, C., 2015. Reframing the land-sparing/land-sharing debate for biodiversity conservation. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1355, 52-76, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12845">https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12845</a>.
- Kremen, C., 2020. Ecological intensification and diversification approaches to maintain biodiversity, ecosystem services and food production in a changing world. Emerging Topics in Life Sciences 4, 229-240, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1042/ETLS20190205">https://doi.org/10.1042/ETLS20190205</a>.
- Larsson, M.H., Persson, K., Ulén, B., Lindsjö, A., Jarvis, N.J., 2007. A dual porosity model to quantify phosphorus losses from macroporous soils. Ecological modelling 205, 123-134.
- Lichtenberg, E.M., Kennedy, C.M., Kremen, C., Batary, P., Berendse, F., Bommarco, R., Bosque-Pérez, N.A., Carvalheiro, L.G., Snyder, W.E., Williams, N.M., 2017. A global synthesis of the effects of diversified farming systems on arthropod diversity within fields and across agricultural landscapes. Global change biology 23, 4946-4957, https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13714.
- Lüscher, G., Whittington, A.E., Gillingham, P., 2016. Farmland biodiversity and agricultural management on 237 farms in 13 European and 2 African regions. Ecology 97, 1625, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1890/15-1985.1">https://doi.org/10.1890/15-1985.1</a>.

- Matson, P.A., Parton, W.J., Power, A.G., Swift, M.J., 1997. Agricultural intensification and ecosystem properties. Science 277, 504-509, http://doi.org/10.1126/science.277.5325.504.
- Matzdorf, B., Lorenz, J., 2010. How cost-effective are result-oriented agri-environmental measures?—An empirical analysis in Germany. Land use policy 27, 535-544, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2009.07.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2009.07.011</a>.
- Maxwell, S., Fuller, R., Brooks, T., Watson, J., 2016. Biodiversity: The ravages of guns, nets and bulldozers. Nature 536, 143, <a href="http://doi.org/10.1038/536143a">http://doi.org/10.1038/536143a</a>.
- McCarthy, D.P., Donald, P.F., Scharlemann, J.P., Buchanan, G.M., Balmford, A., Green, J.M., Bennun, L.A., Burgess, N.D., Fishpool, L.D., Garnett, S.T., 2012. Financial costs of meeting global biodiversity conservation targets: current spending and unmet needs. Science, 1229803.
- MEA, 2005. Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis, Washington DC.
- Metera, E., Sakowski, T., Słoniewski, K., Romanowicz, B., 2010. Grazing as a tool to maintain biodiversity of grassland-a review. Animal Science Papers and Reports 28, 315-334.
- Mineau, P., Whiteside, M., 2013. Pesticide acute toxicity is a better correlate of US grassland bird declines than agricultural intensification. PloS one 8, e57457, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057457">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057457</a>.
- Mouillot, D., Bellwood, D.R., Baraloto, C., Chave, J., Galzin, R., Harmelin-Vivien, M., Kulbicki, M., Lavergne, S., Lavorel, S., Mouquet, N., 2013. Rare species support vulnerable functions in high-diversity ecosystems. PLoS biol 11, e1001569, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001569">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001569</a>.
- Newbold, T., Hudson, L.N., Hill, S.L.L., Contu, S., Lysenko, I., Senior, R.A., Börger, L., Bennett, D.J., Choimes, A., Collen, B., Day, J., De Palma, A., Díaz, S., Echeverria-Londoño, S., Edgar, M.J., Feldman, A., Garon, M., Harrison, M.L.K., Alhusseini, T., Ingram, D.J., Itescu, Y., Kattge, J., Kemp, V., Kirkpatrick, L., Kleyer, M., Correia, D.L.P., Martin, C.D., Meiri, S., Novosolov, M., Pan, Y., Phillips, H.R.P., Purves, D.W., Robinson, A., Simpson, J., Tuck, S.L., Weiher, E., White, H.J., Ewers, R.M., Mace, G.M., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Purvis, A., 2015. Global effects of land use on local terrestrial biodiversity. Nature 520, 45, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14324">https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14324</a>.
- Oerke, E.-C., 2006. Crop losses to pests. The Journal of Agricultural Science 144, 31-43, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859605005708">https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859605005708</a>.
- Ollerton, J., 2017. Pollinator diversity: distribution, ecological function, and conservation. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 48, 353-376, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110316-022919">https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110316-022919</a>.
- Östersjöcentrum, 2017. Människan, näringen och havet, 1.
- Pereira, H.M., Daily, G.C., 2006. Modeling biodiversity dynamics in countryside landscapes. Ecology 87, 1877-1885, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[1877:MBDICL]2.0.CO;2">https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[1877:MBDICL]2.0.CO;2</a>.

- Phalan, B., Balmford, A., Green, R.E., Scharlemann, J.P., 2011. Minimising the harm to biodiversity of producing more food globally. Food Policy 36, S62-S71, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2010.11.008">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2010.11.008</a>.
- Phelps, J., Carrasco, L.R., Webb, E.L., Koh, L.P., Pascual, U., 2013. Agricultural intensification escalates future conservation costs. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 110, 7601-7606, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1220070110">https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1220070110</a>.
- Pimm, S.L., Jenkins, C.N., 2010. Extinctions and the practice of preventing them, Conservation biology for all. Oxford Scholarship, pp. 181-198.
- Purvis, A., Agapow, P.-M., Gittleman, J.L., Mace, G.M., 2000. Nonrandom extinction and the loss of evolutionary history. Science 288, 328-330, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1126/science.288.5464.328">https://doi.org/10.1126/science.288.5464.328</a>.
- Railsback, S.F., Johnson, M.D., 2014. Effects of land use on bird populations and pest control services on coffee farms. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111, 6109, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1320957111">https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1320957111</a>.
- Rasmussen, L.V., Coolsaet, B., Martin, A., Mertz, O., Pascual, U., Corbera, E., Dawson, N., Fisher, J.A., Franks, P., Ryan, C.M., 2018. Social-ecological outcomes of agricultural intensification. Nature Sustainability 1, 275-282, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-018-0070-8">https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-018-0070-8</a>.
- Reed, M.S., Moxey, A., Prager, K., Hanley, N., Skates, J., Bonn, A., Evans, C.D., Glenk, K., Thomson, K., 2014. Improving the link between payments and the provision of ecosystem services in agri-environment schemes. Ecosystem Services 9, 44-53, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.06.008">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.06.008</a>.
- Rekolainen, S., Grönroos, J., Bärlund, I., Nikander, A., Laine, Y., 1999. Modelling the impacts of management practices on agricultural phosphorus losses to surface waters of Finland. Water Science and Technology 39, 265-272, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0273-1223(99)00343-1">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0273-1223(99)00343-1</a>.
- Rekolainen, S., Posch, M., 1993. Adapting the CREAMS Model for Finnish Conditions. Nordic Hydrology 24, 309-322, <a href="https://doi.org/10.2166/nh.1993.10">https://doi.org/10.2166/nh.1993.10</a>.
- Ricketts, T.H., Watson, K.B., Koh, I., Ellis, A.M., Nicholson, C.C., Posner, S., Richardson, L.L., Sonter, L.J., 2016. Disaggregating the evidence linking biodiversity and ecosystem services. Nature Communications 7, 1-8, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13106">https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13106</a>.
- Robinson, R.A., Sutherland, W.J., 2002. Post-war changes in arable farming and biodiversity in Great Britain. Journal of applied Ecology 39, 157-176, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2002.00695.x">https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2002.00695.x</a>.
- Röös, E., Mie, A., Wivstad, M., Salomon, E., Johansson, B., Gunnarsson, S., Wallenbeck, A., Hoffmann, R., Nilsson, U., Sundberg, C., Watson, C.A., 2018. Risks and opportunities of increasing yields in organic farming. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 38, 14, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-018-0489-3">https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-018-0489-3</a>.
- Rundlöf, M., Andersson, G.K.S., Bommarco, R., Fries, I., Hederström, V., Herbertsson, L., Jonsson, O., Klatt, B.K., Pedersen, T.R., Yourstone, J., Smith, H.G., 2015. Seed coating with a neonicotinoid insecticide negatively affects wild bees. Nature 521, 77-80, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14420">https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14420</a>.

- Säterberg, T., Jonsson, T., Yearsley, J., Berg, S., Ebenman, B., 2019. A potential role for rare species in ecosystem dynamics. Scientific reports 9, 1-12, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47541-6.
- Scholz, R.W., Ulrich, A.E., Eilittä, M., Roy, A., 2013. Sustainable use of phosphorus: a finite resource. Science of the Total Environment 461, 799-803, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.05.043">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.05.043</a>.
- Schwarz, G., Moxey, A., McCracken, D., Huband, S., Cummins, R., 2008. An analysis of the potential effectiveness of a Payment-by-Results approach to the delivery of environmental public goods and services supplied by Agri-Environment Schemes. L. UP Group, 108.
- Seufert, V., Ramankutty, N., Foley, J.A., 2012. Comparing the yields of organic and conventional agriculture. Nature 485, 229, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11069.
- Sirami, C., Gross, N., Baillod, A.B., Bertrand, C., Carrié, R., Hass, A., Henckel, L., Miguet, P., Vuillot, C., Alignier, A., 2019. Increasing crop heterogeneity enhances multitrophic diversity across agricultural regions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 116, 16442-16447, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1906419116.
- Smith, H.G., Birkhofer, K., Clough, Y., Ekroos, J., Olsson, O., Rundlöf, M., 2014. Beyond dispersal: the roles of animal movement in modern agricultural landscapes, Animal Movement Across Scales. Oxford University Press, pp. 51 70, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199677184.003.0004">https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199677184.003.0004</a>.
- Smith, H.G., Dänhardt, J., Blombäck, K., Caplat, P., Collentine, D., Grenestam, E., Hanson, H., Höjgård, S., Jansson, T., Johnsson, H., 2016. Slututvärdering av det svenska landsbygdsprogrammet 2007–2013: Delrapport II: Utvärdering av åtgärder för bättre miljö. Utvärderingsrapport 2016: 3.
- Soliveres, S., Manning, P., Prati, D., Gossner, M.M., Alt, F., Arndt, H., Baumgartner, V., Binkenstein, J., Birkhofer, K., Blaser, S., 2016. Locally rare species influence grassland ecosystem multifunctionality. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 371, 20150269, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0269">https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0269</a>.
- Stoate, C., Báldi, A., Beja, P., Boatman, N., Herzon, I., Van Doorn, A., De Snoo, G., Rakosy, L., Ramwell, C., 2009. Ecological impacts of early 21st century agricultural change in Europe–a review. Journal of environmental management 91, 22-46, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.07.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.07.005</a>.
- Suding, K.N., Collins, S.L., Gough, L., Clark, C., Cleland, E.E., Gross, K.L., Milchunas, D.G., Pennings, S., 2005. Functional-and abundance-based mechanisms explain diversity loss due to N fertilization. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 102, 4387-4392, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0408648102">https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0408648102</a>.
- Tilman, D., Balzer, C., Hill, J., Befort, B.L., 2011. Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108, 20260-20264.
- Tilman, D., Cassman, K.G., Matson, P.A., Naylor, R., Polasky, S., 2002. Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. Nature 418, 671-677, <a href="http://doi.org/10.1038/nature01014">http://doi.org/10.1038/nature01014</a>.

- Tilman, D., Fargione, J., Wolff, B., D'antonio, C., Dobson, A., Howarth, R., Schindler, D., Schlesinger, W.H., Simberloff, D., Swackhamer, D., 2001. Forecasting agriculturally driven global environmental change. Science 292, 281-284, 10.1126/science.1057544.
- Tscharntke, T., Klein, A.M., Kruess, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Thies, C., 2005. Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity–ecosystem service management. Ecology letters 8, 857-874.
- Tschumi, M., Albrecht, M., Bärtschi, C., Collatz, J., Entling, M.H., Jacot, K., 2016.

  Perennial, species-rich wildflower strips enhance pest control and crop yield. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 220, 97-103.
- Tubiello, F., Salvatore, M., Cóndor Golec, R., Ferrara, A., Rossi, S., Biancalani, R., Federici, S., Jacobs, H., Flammini, A., 2014. Agriculture, forestry and other land use emissions by sources and removals by sinks. Statistics Division, Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome.
- Tuck, S.L., Winqvist, C., Mota, F., Ahnström, J., Turnbull, L.A., Bengtsson, J., 2014. Landuse intensity and the effects of organic farming on biodiversity: a hierarchical meta-analysis. Journal of Applied Ecology 51, 746-755, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12219">https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12219</a>.
- Underwood, E., Tucker, G., 2016. Ecological Focus Area choices and their potential impacts on biodiversity. Report for BirdLife Europe and the European Environmental Bureau.
- UNEP, 1992. Convention on Biological Diversity, Rio de Janeiro.
- United Nations, 2015. Transforming our world: The 2030 agenda for sustainable development, Resolution adopted by the General Assembly.
- United Nations, 2019. World Population Prospects 2019: Highlights. Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, New York: United Nations.
- USDA, 2020. Food Expenditure Series.
- Wätzold, F., Drechsler, M., Johst, K., Mewes, M., Sturm, A., 2015. A novel, spatiotemporally explicit ecological-economic modeling procedure for the design of cost-effective agrienvironment schemes to conserve biodiversity. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 98, 489-512.
- Wätzold, F., Schwerdtner, K., 2005. Why be wasteful when preserving a valuable resource? A review article on the cost-effectiveness of European biodiversity conservation policy. Biological conservation 123, 327-338.
- Weiner, J., Andersen, S.B., Wille, W.K.-M., Griepentrog, H.W., Olsen, J.M., 2010. Evolutionary Agroecology: the potential for cooperative, high density, weed-suppressing cereals. Evolutionary Applications 3, 473-479, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-4571.2010.00144.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-4571.2010.00144.x</a>.
- White, E.V., Roy, D.P., 2015. A contemporary decennial examination of changing agricultural field sizes using Landsat time series data. Geo 2, 33-54, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/geo2.4">https://doi.org/10.1002/geo2.4</a>.
- Willett, W., Rockström, J., Loken, B., Springmann, M., Lang, T., Vermeulen, S., Garnett, T., Tilman, D., DeClerck, F., Wood, A., 2019. Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT–

- Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. The Lancet 393, 447-492, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31788-4.
- Wilson, E.O., 2016. Half-earth: our planet's fight for life. WW Norton & Company.
- Wittig, B., 2006. An indicator species approach for result-orientated subsidies of ecological services in grasslands—A study in Northwestern Germany. Biological Conservation 133, 186-197, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2006.06.004.
- Wolters, V., Bengtsson, J., Zaitsev, A.S., 2006. Relationship among the species richness of different taxa. Ecology 87, 1886-1895, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87">https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87</a>[1886:RATSRO]2.0.CO;2.
- World Bank Group, 2018. Agricultural land.
- Zimmermann, A., Britz, W., 2016. European farms' participation in agri-environmental measures. Land Use Policy 50, 214-228, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2015.09.019">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2015.09.019</a>.

#### TACK!

Min avhandling hade inte funnits om det inte vore för hjälpen jag fått av kollegor, vänner och familj. Jag är innerligt tacksam för er hjälp och närvaro i mitt liv.

Jag vill börja med att tacka mina tre handledare, som varit ett oumbärligt stöd under min tid som doktorand. Ni har bidragit på olika sätt, och tillsammans väl täckt upp för de behov jag haft.

Min huvudhandledare – Henrik, tack för ditt aldrig sinande engagemang för att förbättra innehållet i min avhandling. Ett bra exempel på detta är när du ringde mig dagen efter jag hade skickat avhandling för tryck, och berättade att Romain hade lyckats förbättra den ekologiska modellen och att jag därför borde skriva om mellan provtrycket och den slutliga tryckningen. In i det absolut sista manade du till att höja avhandlingens kvalité. Mer generellt, har samtal där vi tillsammans analyserat problem, samt dina tusentals textkorrigeringar och tätskrivna kommentarer i högermarginalen av varje sida du skickat tillbaka, varit avgörande för att få avhandlingen i hamn och för min utveckling som forskare. Jag är väldigt glad över att ha gått i "din skola", och tackar dig för dina höga förväntningar på bra forskning som har drivit mig till att bli en bättre forskare.

Min biträdande handledare – Johan, tack för att du alltid ställer upp. Den öppna dörren till ditt kontor har varit en oersättlig portal till kunskap, och hjälp med ekologi, metoder, frågeställningar, studiedesign, med mera, och så även till samtal som roat och avhjälpt vånda över errors i R, reviewers kommentarer, etc. Jag skattar mig lycklig som har haft dig som handledare.

Min biträdande handledare – Mark, tack för din omtänksamhet, det har betytt mycket under min doktorandtid. Både i samtal om motgångar och genom att ge mig möjligheter att presentera min forskning, och delta, i olika intressanta sammanhang. Tack också för all tid du lagt på att lära mig om kostnadseffektivitet och formulering av ekonomiska teorier, och alla humörshöjande samtal som inte rört jobbet, såsom helgens potential för västlig vind styrka "grön".

Till mina medförfattare som alla gjort väsentliga bidrag till mina papper.

Tack Romain för ditt tålamod och dina statistiska insatser. Om inte du hade lagt så mycket tid på den ekologiska modellen veckan innan jag skulle lämna in avhandlingen vet jag inte hur det hade gått. Tack också för alla roliga stunder du bjudit på.

Tack Matthias för att du delade min börda med att få rätsida på rarity-datan, och för de trevliga stunder i lund. Jag hoppas att vi kommer till skott med att besöka er snart.

Tack Sandra för bra feedback i Weed-pappret, och för att du delar med dig av din bottenlösa kunskap inom agronomi.

Tack Verena för att du låtit mig analyser data som du samlat in, och kommit med bra förslag för att förbättra studien.

Tack Klaus för att du är en legend på Pub Einar.

Till mina mer långvariga roomies i kronologisk ordning.

Tack Sandra Goded för att dela kontor med dig var som att gå på karneval varje dag. Aldrig har jag varit mindre oroad över att mitt eget kaos ska störa personen bredvid som när denna person var du. Hoppas att vi ses snart igen, gärna i Galicien.

Tack Maria för att det var så gemytligt att dela kontor med dig. Och tack för att du varit så engagerad i diverse doktorand- och CEC-aktiviteter. Egentligen, tack för att du generellt är så engagerad, din halloweenutstyrsel är en av höstens höjdpunkter, och att bli uppdaterad om dina djur-, mat-, dryckes-, "medmera"-projekt har förgyllt luncherna på CEC.

Tack Lina för berikande samtal om glmer och det senaste inom chemtrails-svängen, och för att du inspirerade mig att införa "plankan" till mina sporadiska besök på gymmet.

Tack Ivette för precis lagom mycket snack och koncentration.

Tack Jessica för den korta stunden du lyste upp platsen bredvid mig med din glödande energi.

Till mina meddoktorander på CEC som jag inte delat kontor med. Ni (och såklart även de jag delade kontor med) har varit extremt viktiga för min utveckling och mitt välbefinnande som doktorand.

Jag tackar dig Jazz för lite allt möjligt. För allt trevligt häng, för att du blivit en god vän och för intressanta samtal om forskningsmöjligheter inom gränslandet mellan våra forskningsområden.

Tack Tess för att du är en som bryr dig, jag saknar att springa in på ert kontor och mötas av din vänliga blick, och prata med dig om lite vad som helst.

Tack Pablo för glada stunder i ekologihuset och för ett enträget och lyckosamt arbete med Formas-ansökan. Och väldigt roligt att du kommer tillbaka till Lund.

Tack Adrian för att du bjudit mig på många skratt och spännande samtal om att sköta café och simulera klimateffekter. Tack också för att du tagit på dig att dra i diverse doktorandarrangemang som jag fått ta del av.

Samma sak till dig Klas, varit väldigt trevligt att umgås och hoppas få möjlighet att göra det även i framtida sammanhang. Och tack för ravet såklart.

Tack Sofia för din härliga attityd!

Tack Julia för behövliga avbrott från avhandlingsarbetet vid CEC:s köksbänk.

Tack Cecilia för bra samarbete under Marks crash course.

Tack Johan, Micaela och Linda för trevlig tid tillsammans.

Därutöver finns det finns många CEC-doktorander som jag inte hunnit lära känna men som jag vill tacka för att ni är en del av gemenskapen.

Till mina kollegor på CEC som inte är doktorander. Jag tackar er alla, men kommer bara att nämna dem som jag har haft mest att göra med.

Tack Åsa, du har varit ett fantastiskt stöd genom åren. Jag har ibland varit orimligt tröglärd gällande hur olika system fungerar, men du har aldrig tappat tålamodet. Du är en saknad klippa på CEC.

Tack Ylva för att du fångade upp mig i en av mina mest uppgivna stunder. Tack också för att du varit så stöttande i processen med att få allt praktiskt på plats inför min disputation. Du gör ett fantastiskt jobb.

Tack Anna E för ditt härliga skratt och positiva energi, din närvaro gör skillnad.

Tack Karin för att du hjälpt mig lösa diverse problem.

Tack Irene för att du hjälpte mig i processen för att ta tjänstledigt.

Tack Roland för alla roliga stunder och för din knivskarpa sarkasm som kan göra addera nervkittlande surrealism till vilket samtal som helst.

Tack Nils för effektiviteten du bidrar med i forskningsprojekt och glädje i umgänge.

Tack Georg för diverse trevliga samtal (inte minst dem om att göra figurer och statistiska analyser).

Tack Natascha för det du fixar åt mig och de andra doktoranderna.

Tack Pernilla för fantastiskt styrda gruppmöten.

Tack Anna P för att du delat med dig av din kunskap om humlor och urbanisering och positiva energi.

Tack Yvonne för ditt engagemang för utbildningen i miljövetenskap.

Tack Willie för trevliga samtal i CEC:s kök.

Tack Cheryl för din positiva anda.

Tack Annika för all hjälp genom åren.

Tack Eva för att du har stenkoll när man har ett ärende om ekonomi.

Tack Olof för spännande samtal som skiljer sig i mängden.

Tack Niklas för trevliga stunder, hoppas att vi får till en runda någon gång snart.

Tack Yann för att kursen i miljöetik var suverän.

Tack Katarina för att det varit riktigt gemytligt att jobba på grundkursen i miljövetenskap.

Tack Lina och Josefin för BECC-mötena, framförallt internaten, de har alltid varit intressanta och givande.

Tack Per för att du blivit CEC:s nya föreståndare, du känns klockren på posten.

Jag vill också tacka folket på Agrifood. Speciellt tack till Helena, Sören och Fredrik för att ni har välkomnat mig att delta i AgriFoods möten, och bjudit in mig att hålla i föredrag om resultatbaserade ersättningar. Jag är också mycket tacksam för att ni finansierade mitt deltagande på en workshop i Wien. Allt detta har berikat min doktorandtid.

Jag vill tacka min examinator Lotta för att du hållit reda på saker och ting.

Till mina andra kollegor.

Tack Oskar för att du är en underbar kollega och en god vän som jag gärna skulle dela korridor med i resten av livet.

Tack Dafne för all tid vi haft tillsammans, jag hoppas att vi någon gång i framtiden kan jobba ihop i ett projekt där vi bidrar med amazing Illustrator-illustrationer.

Tack Margarida och alla andra på mentorsprogrammet för den coaching-resa vi gjorde tillsammans. Tack också coach Karin, mentorsprogrammet ökade min förståelse för trivsel på arbetsplatsen.

Andreas, jag tackade aldrig dig i person för ditt mentorskap. Det var fint av dig att ställa upp och jag lärde mig mycket under våra samtal.

Givetvis vill jag tacka Utku för hans oersättliga insats som Pub master.

Tack Johanna för ditt härliga skratt, för trevliga stunder och för att du är min klätterförebild.

Tack Johanna AO för ditt inspirerande driv och roliga samtal.

Tack Anna Nordén för väldigt mycket. Bland annat för alla små forskningspauser när jag besökt dig på andra våningen.

Tack annat folk på andra våning, såsom Philip, Hanna, Linus, John med flera som jag haft nöjet att avrundat hälften av fredagarna som doktorand med.

Tack Björn för forskningssamarbetet kring CyanoPoll och trevliga stunder.

Tack Tristan för roliga samtal om diverse och för motionen på badmintonbanan.

Tack Ola för utmanande diskussioner, roliga konversationer och för modellen till papper IV.

Tack Anna-lena och Henrik von Wehrden för allt jag lärde mig i TempES, och för en fantastisk resa till Lüneburg.

Tack Hakim för att du lett det intressanta forskningsprojektet om SatelliteBiodiversity.

Tack Jeppe för intensiva och spännande samtal om forskning. Snart ska vi få ut ES/EDS-pappret, bannemej. Hoppas att vi finner många anledningar att forska tillsammans och ses också i framtiden.

Maj, tack för att du är en forskarförebild!

Tack Bartosz för grymt samarbete kring forskningen om ModelledResults. Och för den trevlig vistelsen i Wien.

Tack Åke för ditt patos på innebandyplanen, du får källarlokalen att kännas som baltiska hallen.

Tack Cecilia för all praktisk hjälp i Ekologihuset.

Tack mina vänner utanför jobbet. Utan er hade jag inte hittat den energin som har krävts för att skriva min avhandling. Ling, Love, Max, Josse, Hampus, Max, Mia, Viktor, Victor, Sebbe, Erik, Nicho, Otto, Fia, Pili, C, Alex och ni andra från covent

garden, med flera, ni har verkligen varit viktiga för mig under doktorandtiden och jag ser fram emot fortsatt fina relationer.

Tack min familj.

Tack Jan och Madeleine för att ni supportat mig igenom livet, och så även i detta.

Tack Uffe och Maria, för att all tid vi tillbringat på Vik tillsammans, att stiga in hos er efter en snabb knackning på dörren och sen engageras i samtal om vad helst har varit en härlig avkoppling.

Tack Ylva och Janne för att jag alltid varit välkommen i er familj.

Tack mina kusiner, Christian, Camille, Elsa, Agnes, Anton, Viktor och Frida, för att ni är mitt icke-materiella sociala skyddsnät som ger mig utrymme att ta risker, såsom att doktorera. Tack Matilda, Herman, Oliver, Oliver, Sarah, Bei och Morten för att ni blivit en del av min famili.

Tack Eva och Jörgen för att jag alltid kan känna mig bekväm med att komma till ert hem precis som jag är. Även om jag ibland behövt jobba, är det alltid avkoppande och rofullt att vara i Lillehem.

Tack Erik för din värme och anda!

Tack farfar för att ditt hem varit en borggård fylld med äventyr under min uppväxt som säkert bidragit till mitt intresse för natur. Och tack för att du med dina inspirerande historier bidragit till att ingjuta Vik som ett hem där jag ofta funnit stort fokus under mitt avhandlingsarbete.

Tack morfar för ditt stora hjärta. Du är ofta närvarande i min tanke, och jag söker dina råd i svåra stunder.

Tack mormor för du är ett andra hem för mig. Du har varit otroligt viktig i så mycket av betydelse i mitt liv, hjälpt mig igenom de snårigaste svårigheter, delat oändigt med glada stunder, och så även gällande doktorerandet.

Tack pappa för din glädje, din omtanke och din nyfikenhet. Att diskutera saker med dig utmynnar alltid i någon intressant iakttagelse. Det värmer mitt hjärta att veta att du är en av dem som kommer att glädjas absolut mest åt detta.

Tack Jasmine för din omtanke och för allt du ordnar med.

Tack Hedda för att du alltid finns vid min sida, du är ett ankare i mitt liv som gör att jag aldrig räds över att bli ensam.

Tack Gustav för att du är som pinten på museet i Edinburgh, one you can rely on.

Tack mamma för att du är mitt yttersta skyddsnät, att du bryr dig så mycket, och att vi alltid hittar en sätt igenom svårigheter. Tack också för ditt genuina intresse för mitt doktorerande och miljöfrågor, och våra inspirerande samtal därom. Och tack för att du är så bra att bolla tankar och formuleringar med.

Tack Kjell för att du kommit in i våra liv och för din förmåga att lyssna, begrunda och berätta, och allt med ett öppet sinne.

Tack älskade Lovisa för att du är min livskamrat, min terapeut, mitt hem. Du har hållit mig i handen, lyssnat och förstått vid både böljande ångest och medgång som kommit med doktorerandet. Min kärlek är din.

# DOCTORAL THESES PUBLISHED IN ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE, LUND UNIVERSITY

- 1. Georg K.S. Andersson (2012) Effects of farming practice on pollination across space and time. Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 2. Anja M. Ödman (2012) Disturbance regimes in dry sandy grasslands past, present and future. Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 3. Johan Genberg (2013) Source apportionment of carbonaceous aerosol. Department of Physics/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 4. Petra Bragée (2013) A palaeolimnological study of the anthropogenic impact on dissolved organic carbon in South Swedish lakes. Department of Geology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 5. Estelle Larsson (2013) Sorption and transformation of anti-inflammatory drugs during wastewater treatment. Department of Chemistry/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 6. Magnus Ellström (2014) Effects of nitrogen deposition on the growth, metabolism and activity of ectomycorrhizal fungi. Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 7. Therese Irminger Street (2015) Small biotopes in agricultural landscapes: importance for vascular plants and effects on management. Department of physical geography and ecosystem science/Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 8. Helena I. Hanson (2015) Natural enemies: Functional aspects of local management in agricultural landscapes. Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 9. Lina Nikoleris (2016) The estrogen receptor in fish and effects of estrogenic substances in the environment: ecological and evolutionary perspectives and societal awareness Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research

- 10. Cecilia Hultin (2016) Estrogen receptor and multixenobiotic resistance genes in freshwater fish and snails: identification and expression analysis after pharmaceutical exposure. Centre for environmental and climate research
- 11. Annika M. E. Söderman (2016) Small biotopes: Landscape and management effects on pollinators. Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 12. Wenxin Ning (2016) Tracking environmental changes of the Baltic Sea coastal zone since the mid-Holocene. Department of Geology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 13. Karin Mattsson (2016) Nanoparticles in the aquatic environment, Particle characterization and effects on organisms. Department of Chemistry/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 14. Ola Svahn (2016) Tillämpad miljöanalytisk kemi för monitorering och åtgärder av antibiotika- och läkemedelsrester I Vattenriket. School of Education and Environment, Kristianstad University/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 15. Pablo Urrutia Cordero (2016) Putting food web theory into action: Local adaptation of freshwaters to global environmental change. Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 16. Lin Yu (2016) Dynamic modelling of the forest ecosystem: Incorporation of the phosphorous cycle. Centre for environmental and climate research
- 17. Behnaz Pirzamanbein (2016) Recontruction of past European land cover based on fossil pollen data: Gaussian Markov random field models for compositional data. Centre for Mathematical Sciences/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 18. Arvid Bolin (2017) Ecological interactions in human modified landscapes Landscape dependent remedies for the maintenance of biodiversity and ecosystem services. Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 19. Johan Martinsson (2017) Development and Evaluation of Methods in Source Apportionment of the Carbonaceous Aerosol. Department of Physics/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 20. Emilie Öström (2017) Modelling of new particle formation and growth in the atmospheric boundary layer. Department of Physics/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 21. Lina Herbertsson (2017) Pollinators and Insect Pollination in Changing Agricultural Landscapes. Centre for environmental and climate research
- 22. Sofia Hydbom (2017) Tillage practices and their impact on soil organic carbon and the microbial community. Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research

- 24. Erik Ahlberg (2017) Speeding up the Atmosphere: Experimental oxidation studies of ambient and laboratory aerosols using a flow reactor. Department of Physics/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 23. Laurie M. Charrieau (2017) DISCO: Drivers and Impacts of Coastal Ocean Acidification. Department of Geology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 25. Kristin Rath (2018) Soil salinity as a driver of microbial community structure and functioning. Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 26. Lelde Krumina (2018) Adsorption, desorption, and redox reactions at iron oxide nanoparticle surfaces. Department of Biology/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 27. Ana Soares (2018) Riverine sources of bioreactive macroelements and their impact on bacterioplankton metabolism in a recipient boreal estuary. Department of physical geography and ecosystem science/Centre for environmental and climate research
- 28. Jasmine Livingston (2018) Climate Science for Policy? The knowledge politics of the IPCC after Copenhagen. Centre for environmental and climate research
- 29. Simon David Herzog (2019) Fate of riverine iron over estuarine salinity gradients. Department of Biology/Centre for Environmental and Climate Research
- 30. Terese Thoni (2019) Making Blue Carbon: Coastal Ecosystems at the Science-Policy Interface. Centre for Environmental and Climate Research
- 31. Lovisa Nilsson (2019) Exploring synergies management of multifunctional agricultural landscapes. Centre for Environmental and Climate Research
- 32. Zhaomo Tian (2019) Properties and fungal decomposition of iron oxide-associated organic matter. Centre for Environmental and Climate Research
- 33. Sha Ni (2020) Tracing marine hypoxic conditions during warm periods using a microanalytical approach. Department of Geology/Centre for Environmental and Climate Research
- 34. Julia Kelly (2021) Carbon exchange in boreal ecosystems: upscaling and the impacts of natural disturbances. Centre for Environmental and Climate Science
- 35. William Sidemo Holm (2021) Effective conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes. Centre for Environmental and Climate Science